

LUND UNIVERSITY

Perception of nociceptive pain. Perspectives on induction, evaluation and gender.

Sellgren Engskov, Anna

2023

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Sellgren Engskov, A. (2023). *Perception of nociceptive pain. Perspectives on induction, evaluation and gender.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

· You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain

You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00



Perspectives on induction, evaluation and gender

ANNA SELLGREN ENGSKOV DEPARTMENT OF CLINICAL SCIENCES, MALMÖ | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Perspectives on induction, evaluation and gender

Anna Sellgren Engskov



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at Lund University, Faculty of Medicine, to be publicly defended on 17th of November 2023 at 09.00 in Lilla aulan, Jan Waldenströms gata 5, Skåne University Hospital Malmö.

> Faculty opponent Professor Bengt Nellgård, Gothenburg University

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY, Faculty of medicine, Department of Clinical Sciences Malmö, Anaesthesiology and Intensive care Medicine

Document name: Lund University, Faculty of medicine, Doctoral Dissertation Series 2023:133

Date of issue: 19th of November 2023

Author: Anna Sellgren Engskov

Title and subtitle: Perception of nociceptive pain - perspectives on induction, evaluation and gender

Abstract:

Background: Pain is the main reason for seeking medical treatment. Nociceptive pain activates myelinated $A\delta$ -fibres with immediate, distinct, and localized sensation of pain, and nonmyelinated C-fibres, with delayed, aching, and diffuse sensation of pain. Individual pain perception is multidimensional and influenced by interacting physiological and psychosocial factors. Consensus on investigator gender impact on pain perception is lacking. Considering the multifactorial influence on pain, evaluation by adding verbal descriptors of pain quality to pain intensity scales is essential.

Aims: Evaluate abilities of selectively inducing delayed pain (I). Evaluate potential impact of investigator and participant gender on nociceptive acute pain, induced by experimental pain stimuli (I-II) or surgery (III). Evaluate potential associations between verbal descriptors of pain quality (reflecting A δ - or C-fibre-mediated pain) and pain intensity levels, in postoperative patients early after surgery (IV).

Methods: In 44 healthy volunteers pain threshold was induced by CO_2 laser stimulation and evaluated with visual analogue scale (VAS) (I). In 40 healty volunteers pain threshold was indued by electrical pain stimulation and evaluated with VAS, once by a female and once by a male investigator, according to a randomized crossover study design (II). In a clinical observational study, 245 patients were subjected to various kinds of surgery, and postoperative pain intensity levels were evaluated with VAS according to a paired crossover study design, by a female and a male study investigator (III). In addition, the study patients described their pain with optional verbal quality descriptors early after surgery (IV).

Results: Lower levels of energy density were used (P=0.003) in those 13 subjects reporting single, compared with those 29 reporting double, pain responses (I). Higher levels of electrical pain threshold (P<0.0001) were obtained by the female than by the male investigator (II). Male patients reported lower VAS scores to female than male investigators (P=0.006) after surgery (III). Patients with mild pain more often reported quality descriptors associated with C-fibre- than Aδ-fibre-mediated pain (P=0.007), and lower (P=0.047) pain intensity was associated with quality descriptors of C-fibre-mediated postoperative pain. Subject gender did not influence induction or evalution of pain (I-IV).

Conclusions: Delayed nociceptive pain, presumably reflecting C-fibre transmission, is induceable by ultra-short laser stimulation and selectively assessable in humans (I). Perception of acute nociceptive pain, induced by experimental stimulation or surgery, was not influenced by study participant gender (I-IV), but by investigator gender (I-III), with lower pain sensitivity in male (I, III), and both genders of (II), study participants, when evaluated by a female than by a male. Verbal quality descriptors reflecting C-fibre-mediated pain were associated with lower reported pain intensity in postoperative patients (IV).

Key words: Acute pain, Gender identity, Nociceptive pain, Pain measurement, Postoperative pain, Sex, Visual analog scale

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)	Supplementary bibliographical information	
Language English	ISSN and key title: 1652-8220	
	ISBN: 978-91-8021-475-9	
Recipient's notes	Number of pages: 67	
Price	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2023-10-05

Perspectives on induction, evaluation and gender

Anna Sellgren Engskov



Cover painting by the talented Elisabeth Thune, specially made for this thesis. Copyright pp 1-67 Anna Sellgren Engskov

Paper 1 © Open acces (BMC Anesthesiology) Paper 2 © Open acces (German Medical Science) Paper 3 © Open acces (Biology of Sex Differences) Paper 4 © by the Authors (Submitted manuscript)

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences Malmö Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine

ISBN 978-91-8021-475-9 ISSN 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2023:133

Tryckt i Sverige av Media-Tryck, Lunds universitet Lund 2023



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



'The positive thinker sees the invisible, feels the intangible and achieves the impossible' Winston Churchill

> To my lovely family – Lars, Alma, Axel & Ida

Table of contents

Summary in Swedish	10
List of publications	12
Abbreviations	
Preface	14
Background	16
History of pain	16
Pain classifications	
Pathophysiology	
Persistence	19
Neurophysiology of nociceptive pain	19
Altered perception	20
Spinal modulation	21
Physiological responses	21
Experimentally induced pain	21
Surgical pain	22
Assessment of pain intesity	23
Verbal rating scale	23
Numeric rating scale	23
Visual analogue scale	23
Faces pain rating scale	24
Face, legs, activity, cry, consolability scale	24
Matching ongoing pain	25
Assessment of pain quality	
McGill pain questionnaire	
Short-form McGill pain questionnaire	26
Factors influencing pain perception	27
Gender and sex	27
Age	27
Culture	
Mood	
Experience	29
Environment	29

Aims	31
Methods	32
Study participants	32
Paper I	32
Paper II	33
Papers III-IV	33
Induction of pain	35
Laser stimulation (I)	35
Electrical stimulation (II)	35
Surgical stimulation (III-IV)	37
Evaluation of pain	37
Assessment of pain intensity (I-IV)	
Assessment of pain quality (IV)	37
Statistics (I-IV)	37
Results and reflections	39
Induction of pain (I-IV)	39
Is stimulation with laser or electricity appropriate for induction of	
pain? (I, II)	39
Can ultra-short laser stimulation selectively induce delayed pain? (I)) 40
How much pain is induced early after surgery? (III-IV)	41
Evaluation of pain (I-IV)	42
What are the benefits of using VAS? (I-IV)	42
Do verbal pain descriptors add valuable information to VAS scores	S
early after surgery? (IV)	43
Gender aspects on pain perception (I-III)	44
Does gender influence experimentally induced pain? (I, II)	44
Does gender influence surgical pain? (III-IV)	46
Other aspects on pain perception (I-IV)	48
What else may influence pain perception? (I-IV)	48
Do methodological aspects affect outcome of pain perception? (I-IV).49
Conclusions	51
Future perspectives	52
Acknowledgements	53
References	55

Summary in Swedish

Smärta är en av de vanligaste anledningarna till att söka vård och ständigt aktuellt inom hälso- och sjukvården. Den vanligaste smärttypen är nociceptiv och utlöses genom stimulering av mottagare i huden (nociceptorer). Smärtsignalerna fortleds sedan genom snabba myeliniserade A δ -fibrer (omedelbart smärtsvar) och långsamma omyeliniserade C-fibrer (fördröjt smärtsvar). A δ -fibrerna förmedlar en omedelbar skarp, välavgränsad, stickande varningssmärta och C-fibrerna en fördröjd mer diffus, värkande, tryckande smärta. Detta hänger samman med att olika slags nociceptorer är olika känsliga för värme, och att olika slags nervfibrer fortleder smärtsignaler olika snabbt.

Hur en människa upplever smärta kan ha många förklaringar. Smärtupplevelsen påverkas av både fysiologiska, psykologiska och psykosociala faktorer och av hur dessa samspelar. Något som inte undersökts tillräckligt, och där man ännu inte nått klarhet, är om, och i så fall hur, genus hos en undersökare eller behandlare påverkar hur man som forskningsperson eller patient upplever smärta. Eftersom många faktorer påverkar smärtupplevelsen är det svårt att bedöma och tolka pågående smärta genom att försöka mäta hur ont det gör (kvantitativ smärtskattning) utan att även försöka ta reda på hur smärtan samtidigt upplevs (kvalitativ smärtskattning).

Denna avhandling bygger på fyra vetenskapliga arbeten (I-IV), där vi undersökt hur man kan framkalla och utvärdera smärta som fortleds genom A δ -fibrer och C-fibrer, om och hur genus hos undersökande och undersökt påverkar hur smärta upplevs, och hur man kan utvärdera smärta hos nyopererade patienter genom samtidig kvantitativ och kvalitativ smärtskattning.

I den första studien (I) har vi på friska frivilliga forskningspersoner undersökt omedelbar och fördröjd smärta. Med hjälp av extremt korta laserpulsar mot fotsulan kunde vi framkalla två kortvariga smärtupplevelser med någon sekunds mellanrum, där den första sannolikt motsvarar snabb fortledning via A δ -fibrer och den andra långsam via C-fibrer. Samtidigt gjorde vi en intressant iakttagelse av att manliga forskningspersoner behövde starkare laserpulsar när de undersöktes av en kvinna än en man, för att uppnå samma smärtupplevelse dvs samma skattade nivåer av smärta.

Dessa resultat inspirerade oss till en uppföljande studie (II) på friska frivilliga forskningspersoner, undersökta av en kvinna och av en man, där vi ville försöka ta reda på mer om hur smärtupplevelsen påverkas av genus, hos i första hand undersökaren och i andra hand forskningspersonen.

Vi valde att framkalla smärta med en liten dosa som ger svag elektrisk ström när man håller den mellan fingertopparna. Smärtan framkallades vid två tillfällen, en gång med en kvinnlig och en gång med en manlig undersökare. I linje med vår tidigare iakttagelse behövdes det kraftigare elektrisk stimulering för att framkalla samma skattade nivåer av smärta med en kvinnlig än med en manlig undersökare, hos både kvinnor och män. Däremot hade genus hos forskningspersonerna ingen påverkan på upplevd smärta.

Vi ville undersöka om smärtupplevelsen påverkas av genus på samma sätt även på nyopererade patienter, och designade en klinisk studie (III-IV) på 245 postoperativa patienter som genomgått olika typer av kirurgi, och undersöktes på tre olika postoperativa avdelningar på Skånes universitetssjukhus i Malmö.

En kvinnlig och en manlig undersökare frågade ut patienten om smärtan snart efter att patienten kommit från operation, med ca en kvarts mellanrum (III). Vi kunde delvist bekräfta våra tidigare resultat och fann att män, men inte kvinnor, hade mindre ont när de utfrågades av en kvinna än av en man. Trots små skillnader, som antagligen inte är betydelsefulla på gruppnivå, kan våra resultat ha en betydelse för den enkla individen, speciellt med tanke på att skillnaderna i smärtnivå var som störst när det gjorde så pass ont att patienterna började fråga efter smärtlindring.

I den kliniska studien ville vi även titta på om vi kunde få en mer nyanserad bild av patienternas smärtupplevelse och därför bad vi även de postoperativa patienterna beskriva sin smärta med egna ord vid ett tillfälle (IV). Dessa totalt 17 valfria smärtbeskrivningarna kunde vi dela upp i två grupper, som reflekterade snabb (Aδfibrer) eller långsam (C-fibrer) fortledning av smärta. Det visade sig att det fanns ett samband mellan smärtbeskrivningar som reflekterar Aδ-fibrer-fortledning och högre skattad smärta, samt C-fiber-fortledning och lägre skattad smärta.

Sammanfattningsvis har vi kunnat visa att det är möjligt att selektivt framkalla fördröjt nocicpetivt smärtsvar med snabb pulsad koldioxidlaser, att kvinnliga undersökare har en positiv inverkan på smärtupplevelsen, samt att smärtbeskrivningar i tillägg till skattade smärtnivåer tillför en ytterligare dimension i bedömningen av patientens smärtupplevelse. Utvärdering av smärta med både kvantitativa och kvalitativa metoder, med en medvetenhet omkring eventuell genuspåverkan, kan förhoppningsvis bidra till att patienter får ett förbättrat omhändertagande och behandling av smärta, med snabbare återhämtning efter kirurgi eller andra akuta smärttillstånd.

List of publications

This thesis is based on the following original scientific papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- Sellgren Engskov A, Troilius Rubin A, Åkeson J. Single and double pain responses to individually titrated ultra-short laser stimulation in humans. BMC Anesthesiology. 2019 Mar 4;19(1):29. doi: 10.1186/s12871-019-0702-1. PMID: 30832563; PMCID: PMC6399816. https://bmcanesthesiol.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12871-019-0702-1
- II. Sellgren Engskov A, Lejbman I, Åkeson J. Randomized cross-over evaluation of investigator gender on pain thresholds in healthy volunteers. *German Medical Science*. 2021 Nov 29;19:Doc14. doi: 10.3205/000301. PMID: 34955699; PMCID: PMC8662746. https://www.egms.de/static/en/journals/gms/2021-19/000301.shtml
- Sellgren Engskov A, Ydrefors A, el-Jaleb K, Åkeson J.
 Prospective paired crossover evaluation of potential impact of investigator gender on perceived pain intensity early after acute or scheduled surgery. *Biology of Sex Differences*. 2023;14: 23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13293-023-00508-9
- IV. Sellgren Engskov A, el-Jaleb K, Dyhre H, Åkeson J. Multidimensional evaluation of Aδ- and C-fibre-associated components of postoperative pain. Submitted for publication.

Abbreviations

Αδ	A-delta
APOP	Acute postoperative pain
ASA	American Society of Anesthesiologists
BMI	Body mass index
CI	Confidence interval
CNS	Central nervous system
CO_2	Carbon dioxide
CPT	Cold pressure task
EPT	Electrical pain threshold
FLACC	Face, legs, activity, cry, consolability
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
IASP	International Association for the Study of Pain
IQR	Interquartile range
MPQ	McGill pain questionnaire
NRS	Numeric rating scale
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
Р	Levels of probability
PACU	Post-anaesthesia care unit
PPSP	Persisting postsurgical pain
QST	Quantitative sensory testing
SD	Standard deviation
SF-MPQ	Short-form McGill pain questionnaire
SSRI	Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor
TCA	Tricyclic antidepressant
TENS	Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation
VAS	Visual analogue scale
WDR	Wide dynamic range

Preface

Almost 15 years ago I started as a resident at the Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive care in Malmö, in southern Sweden and shortly after I asked the upcoming professor Jonas Åkeson about a research project. He had an initiated experimental study on pain which was suitable for someone to accomplish and develop. I found it exciting and accepted the challenge, thereby initiating the process of my PhD studies (Fig. 1). The project originally focused on comparing different analgesics after experimentally induced pain. Initially I acted as a study investigator but while analysing the results, I realised that a methodological study concerning 'first' and 'second' pain would be required before dealing with the analgesic drugs. However, my second study ended up being about something completely different, inspired by my incidental findings concerning investigator gender in the first study. I designed an experimental study concerning potential impact of investigator gender on pain perception, where I was one of two investigators. The results on gender impact in the second study entailed me to test my hypothesis in a clinical setting and I designed a study on postoperative patients. Besides studying impact of investigator gender (III) I also wanted to evaluate pain in a descriptive way (IV) in this clinical study. By relating individually reported verbal descriptors of pain to 'first' or 'second' pain, like in the first study, the circle was closed. I never got to the analysis of analgesics though, so I really had turned the research project to mine. I am grateful for the opportunity to act as a study investigator, study designer, and supervisor for medical students involved in my research. I have learnt a lot along this process and have used my curiosity, creativity, and caring abilities to form and develop my PhD-project. Initially I thought the process of a PhD was a straight and pre-determined road trip, but it turned out to be twisting and turning with lots of exciting surprises and challenges along the road. Just like the life itself.



Figure 1.

Time line of my PhD research process and other life changing events. Abbreviations: HD (Henrik Dyhre), IPV (intensiv- och perioperativ vård i.e. Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care), SUS (Skåne University Hospital), JÅ (Jonas Åkeson)

Background

History of pain

Pain is complex, multidimensional, and individual, and an important aspect of our survival and well-being as a warning-signal of something harmful to the body (Fig. 2). The word pain originates from the Greek goddess of revenge Poine, or in Latin Poena, meaning penalty or punishment [1]. Pain has afflicted people since ancient times, originally believed to be caused by evil spirits and demons. There is early evidence from 1500 to 1300 BC of treating pain with cocoa plant leaves in pre-inca cultures and with opium in China, India and Egypt, later also used in Greece by Hippocrates in 460 BC [2]. Non-pharmacological pain relief with acupuncture was first recorded in medical texts in China in 300 BC [3]. Use of opioids for painful surgery was first documented in the 12th and 13th centuries, and in 1820-1830 morphine was industrially produced in Germany and the United States [2]. In 1947 William Livingstone established the first research-based pain clinic in the United States and in 1953 John Bonica published the first book on pain treatment options [4]. In the sixties pain was stated to be both physiological and psychological and related to this Ronald Melzack and Patrick D. Wall introduced the gate control theory of pain [5], promoting better understanding of pain perception and improved pain management [6]. Since the nineties pain is considered to be individualized and thereby believed to be best managed with a multimodal personalized approach [6]. and research on non-pharmacological, in addition to pharmacological, pain management is increasing and most relevant today.

The first official definition of pain was presented in 1979 by the International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP): 'An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage.'[7]. This definition of pain was revised in 2020: 'An unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with, or resembling that associated with, actual or potential tissue damage.'[7]. Belonging notes point out that pain is always a subjective experience, influenced by physiological, psychological, and psycho-social factors. Moreover, that pain cannot be inferred only from activity in sensory neurons, and accordingly nociception and pain are different phenomena [7].



Figure 2.

Mind map showing that pain is multidimensional and individual from induction to perception. Abbreviations: FLACC (Face, legs, activity, cry, consolability), NRS (numeric rating scale), MPQ (McGill Pain Questionnaire), NSAID (Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug), PACU (Post-anaesthesia care unit), SF-MPQ (Short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire), SSRI (Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor), TENS (Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation), TCA (Tricyclic antidepressant), VAS (visual analogue scale), VRS (verbal rating scale)

Pain classifications

Pathophysiology

Pain can be divided according to pathophysiology into nociceptive, nociplastic, neuropathic, psychogenic, and idiopathic pain, which is important for basic understanding and appropriate management of pain (Fig. 2 & 3). Nociceptive pain, discussed in this thesis, is caused by tissue damage and the most common kind of pain. Recently identified, nociplastic pain arises from altered nociception with no clear evidence of ongoing tissue damage or inflammation, e.g. fibromyalgia [8]. Neuropathic pain is caused by a primary lesion or dysfunction in the peripheral or central nervous system [9, 10].



Figure 3.

Acute nociceptive pain induced by injection with a syringe and eased by a following band-aid. Drawing by my 10-year-old son Axel.

Persistence

Pain can be classified according to its duration (Fig. 2), with acute pain lasting less and chronic pain more, than three months [11]. However, the definition of chronic pain (complex long-persisting pain without actual known causes) is questioned since its focus on time, which is not crucial for pain lasting more than three months, overshadows influence of psychological and psycho-social factors on onset, maintenance, and exacerbation of pain, possibly affecting strategies of patient management [12].

Neurophysiology of nociceptive pain

Nociception – derived from the Latin words 'noxe', meaning damage, and 'recipere', meaning catch – is the process of detecting and responding to noxious or potentially harmful stimuli of heat, cold, pressure or chemicals. Tissue damage activates nociceptors, which are free nerve endings in the epidermis, branched from the main axon of a nociceptive neuron, converting the physical or chemical energy into action potentials travelling along primary nociceptive neurons to synapse on second-order neurons within the dorsal horn of the spinal cord [13]. Axons of these neurons then traverse to the opposite side of the spinal cord and ascend within the spinothalamic tract to the thalamus [13, 14] (or to the medulla oblongata, activating the autonomous nervous system). Via tertiary neurones from the thalamus the nociceptive signal ascends to the somatosensory cortex where awareness of pain occurs, to the limbic system where emotional responses like anxiety, fear and stress are trigged, and to the frontal cortex where interpretation of impact analysis of pain takes place – altogether creating a pain sensation [13].



Figure 4.

Principal outlines of myelinated Aδ-fibres and nonmyelinated C-fibres, mediating 'first' and 'second' pain responses, respectively.

A process of pain perception involves various neurotransmitters, including both inflammatory mediators, such as prostaglandins, serotonin, histamine, glutamate and norepinephrine, and non-inflammatory mediators, such as gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), opioid peptides and cannabinoids [10].

There are two kinds of primary nociceptive neurons (Fig. 4). Myelinated A δ -fibres with noduli are characterized by transmitting immediate (5-30 m/s), distinct, pricking, and localized sensations of (warning) pain, connecting to a few interneurons within a small area in the spinal dorsal horn – 'first pain' [15]. Thinner nonmyelinated C-fibres are characterized by transmitting delayed (0.5-2 m/s), dull or pressing, aching, and less well-confined sensations of pain, branching in a more diffuse manner in the dorsal horn – 'second pain' [14, 15]. Thermal activation thresholds of the nociceptors (to fire action potentials) are 44.3–46.5°C for A δ -fibres and 41.8–42.4°C for C-fibres at foot level [16]. Acute pain is mediated by both A δ - and C-fibres and chronic pain primary by C-fibres [17]. In contrast to mechanoreceptors, nociceptors do not adapt to repeated stimuli, leading to continuous firing if the painful stimulation persists [18].

Altered perception

Primary hyperalgesia (Fig. 2) is increased sensitivity to pain at the site of tissue damage [19]. Peripheral sensitization is the underlying mechanism of this enhanced and prolonged response to painful stimuli, involving decrease in activation threshold and increase in firing rate of primary afferent nociceptors facilitated by prostaglandins [10]. This process may also cause allodynia, where normally non-painful stimuli suddenly become painful [19].

Secondary hyperalgesia (Fig. 2) is due to central sensitization in the spinal dorsal horn, where interneurons called wide-dynamic-range neurons, usually transmitting non-nociceptive signals from larger body regions, are activated by repeated stimuli causing amplifications of the nociceptive information, leading to excitability of these neurons involving inflammatory mediators (including substance P and glutamate) [10]. This upregulation (wind-up) will cause hyperalgesia within a larger area surrounding the site of injury [19]. By promoting release of prostaglandins, central sensitization can also cause allodynia, i.e. triggering of pain responses by light touching, normally not provoking pain [10].

The opposite of sensitization is habituation [20], which is a passive process to repetitive painful stimuli (Fig. 2), either peripheral by a decrease in sensitivity of peripheral nociceptors with fatigue [21] or central by a reduction in the responsiveness of the CNS [22]. There are also pain descending inhibitory systems involving active modulation of pain signals within the CNS, primarily within the dorsal horn, by release of serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine, and GABA [10]. This phenomenon of endogenous analgesia is mediated mainly by opioid and

cannabinoid signalling in the periaqueductal grey of the midbrain [23]. Dysregulation of these counter-balanced systems of pain modulation may promote transition of acute pain to chronic pain [19].

Spinal modulation

The gate control theory [5] is a widely accepted neurophysiological model and facilitates understanding of pain processing. It implies a 'gate' in the spinal cord that controls transmission of pain by inhibitory and exhibitory signals from nociceptors and other sensory receptors to the brain. A strong nociceptive input can open the gate allowing more pain signals to pass through, whereas a strong non-nociceptive sensory input e.g. gentle touch, can close the gate. Likewise, psychological, and emotional factors, like anxiety or stress, can promote opening of the gate, while relaxation or distraction can close the gate. The theory also emphasizes that pain perception is individual and influenced by neurophysiological and psychological conditions, and by earlier experiences [5].

Physiological responses

Pain triggers neuro-endocrine stress responses (Fig. 2), activating the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenocortical and sympatho-adrenal systems, with increased sympathetic tone and higher plasma levels of catecholamines elevating the heart rate, blood pressure, oxygen consumption, and respiratory rate [24] – vital parameters also recently confirmed to reflect early individual medical deterioration at the bedside in various clinical settings.

Experimentally induced pain

To evaluate pain perception in experimentally settings, individual responses to controlled painful thermal (heat or cold), mechanical, electrical, or chemical stimulation (Fig. 2), are quantified. These various methods, designed to evaluate pain sensitivity, are referred to as quantitative sensory testing (QST) [25].

Thermal induction of pain based on laser stimulation enables reproducible, reliable, individually adjustable, non-inflammatory and rapidly transient activation of the nociceptive system without simultaneous activation of mechanosensitive afferents [26], thereby providing selective activation of Aδ- and C-fibres [27, 28]. Argon and carbon dioxide (CO₂) laser techniques have often been used in experimental pain studies, with no or minimum skin damage [26], whereas infrared laser is less used for induction of pain [29]. Direct dermal contact heat with a thermode can be used for rapid heating, activating Aδ- and C-fibres, or slow heating, mainly activating C-

fibres [30]. Thermal induction of pain with cold pressure task (CPT) is a reliable and reproducible technique, where study participants submerge their hands and forearms in ice-cold water, while pain threshold, intensity and tolerance are being determined [31].

Mechanical induction of pain, also considered reliable and easily applicable [32], includes pinprick stimulation with a needle mainly activating A δ -fibres [15], and pressure stimulation with an algometer, activating both A δ - and C-fibres [30].

Electrical induction of pain, with short-lasting and reproducible pulses, bypasses nociceptors and activates neurones directly with standardized timing and intensity, producing EPT [33] and mainly activating A δ -fibre-mediated pain [34]. Stimulation is delivered by transdermal weak electric current in the finger pulps (Painmatcher[®]) [35], and at the dorsum of the hand [36], or by intraepidermal electrode technique [37].

Chemical induction of pain, primary with low-dose capsaicin (chili pepper), reproducibly produces long-lasting cutaneous hyperalgesia with low risk of skin injury [38].

Surgical pain

Early postoperative pain (Fig. 2) is reported by up to 80 % of surgical patients [39-41], and pain relief after surgery is often insufficient [41-43] despite improvements in prediction and treatment of pain [41]. Acute postoperative pain (APOP) has been estimated to turn into persisting postsurgical pain (PPSP) beyond three months after surgery in 10-50 % [44, 45], and was reported to be the highest risk factor of PPSP beyond six months after surgery in a recent study [46]. Especially severe postoperative pain may contribute to conversion of APOP to PPSP [44, 45]. Efficient early management of APOP is essential to avoid delayed mobilization and rehabilitation, immediate and long-term impact on patients' life and in a wider perspective higher healthcare cost. A prerequisite for this is appropriate assessment of pain. However, evaluating pain early after surgery might be difficult due to potentially reduced cognitive ability after anaesthesia [47], postoperative nausea [48], and potential anxiety [49].

Assessment of pain intesity

The most common way of assessing pain is by rating the level of pain intensity (Fig. 2).

Verbal rating scale

The verbal rating scale (VRS) (Fig. 5), used for a long time, includes few eligible words with corresponding numbers (0–3) for pain description of pain as: 'no' (0), 'mild' (1), 'moderate' (2), and 'severe' (3) [50]. This scale, developed to readily evaluate pain treatment, is short, simple, and easy to use in clinical practice, but lacks enough accuracy for research. Nevertheless, the VRS has been reported to provide reliable scientific information [51].

Numeric rating scale

The numeric rating scale (NRS) (Fig. 5) is an eleven-level scale from 1978 where the patient is asked to assess the perceived pain intensity of ongoing pain from 0 ('no') to 10 ('worst imaginable'). The NRS can be applied visually – positioned vertically or horizontally – or verbally [52], and is easy to administer and use with high compliance and good responsiveness [53]. NRS scores correspond well with VAS scores [54] but have lower accuracy. When applied verbally, auditory memory may influence scores obtained, particularly with repeated NRS assessments at short time intervals.

Visual analogue scale

The visual analogue scale (VAS) (Fig. 5) is a 101-level horizontally or vertically used 100-mm slide ruler, originally introduced in 1921, and still considered to provide accurate, valid, reliable and reproducible information. The patient, blinded to the scored level, is asked to assess the perceived level of intensity of ongoing pain between 'no' and 'worst imaginable' by sliding a marker along the ruler [55]. The investigator records the scored level of pain intensity with one decimal from the backside of the ruler. Incorrect recording is a potential source of error [56, 57], recently reported to be avoidable with digital instead of a paper-based tools for evaluation [55, 58]. Until recently, it was still controversial whether the VAS is linear or non-linear [59]. However, non-linearity of the VAS has now been confirmed, based on considerable differences in clinical relevance of the same numeric changes in score levels along the scale [33, 60, 61]. Accordingly, study data obtained with the VAS should be reported, analysed, and interpreted based on continuous methods for ordinal data.



Figure 5.

Unidimensional pain evaluation tools for assesment of pain intensity.

Faces pain rating scale

The Wong-Baker faces pain rating scale was originally created in 1983 with children for children to help them communicate about their pain and thereby facilitate pain assessment. It is simple and quick and suitable for children from three years of age, extensively validated in healthy school children with postoperative pain [62].

Face, legs, activity, cry, consolability scale

The five-category face, legs, activity, cry, consolability (FLACC) scale was developed in 1997 to help parents and professionals to assess pain levels in children from two months to seven years of age with limited or no expressive communication. Each category is scored on a three-level scale (0/1/2), with a total maximum of score 10. Based on the total score, the level of pain or discomfort is classified as 'relaxed and comfortable', 'mild discomfort', 'moderate pain', 'severe discomfort of pain or both'. The FLACC pain scale has been found to be valid and reliable, but a disadvantage is that children might show these behaviours also without pain [63].

Matching ongoing pain

Direct matching of ongoing pain intensity with an experimentally induced pain has been proposed to provide more objective assessments than with NRS or VAS [64]. The Painmatcher[®] device (Cefar Medical AB, Lund, Sweden), introduced in the early zeroes, was designed to induce gradually increasing electrical stimulation of sensory nerve fibres in the finger tips until the perceived intensity of pain matches the intensity of ongoing other pain [64]. It has been reported to be as reliable as VAS [64] but less sensitive to changes in pain intensity [65]. Poor correlation has been reported between study data obtained with Painmatcher and VAS in acute [65] and chronic [35] pain. The 'Hardy-Wolff-Goodell dolorimeter' is another pain matching tool, producing thermal painful stimulus by focusing light on a blackened area of skin, developed in the 1940's and used for the first time in 1951 during labour, however without success as parturients were unwilling to cooperate [66].

Assessment of pain quality

In addition to traditional quantitative pain evaluation tools, instruments for qualitative pain assessment (Fig. 2) have made progress over the last 50 years.

McGill pain questionnaire

The McGill pain questionnaire (MPQ) (Table 1) focusing on both physiological and psychological components of pain, was developed in 1975 by Ronald Melzack. It comprises 78 verbal pain descriptors, categorized to reflect sensory-discriminative, emotional-affective or cognitive-evaluative aspects on pain. In addition, there are three major measures: the pain rating index (1), depending on two types of numerical values that can be assigned to each verbal descriptor, the number of words chosen (2) and the current pain intensity (3), based on a five-level intensity scale from 1 to 5 [67].

'How we come by our knowledge of another person's pain is a nice study in communication. It has much in common with the sort of communication attempted by the painter, the poet and the musician – the conveying of moods and feelings'

James Parkhouse 1963

Table 1.

The 78 chosable quality verbal descriptors of pain included in the McGill pain questionnaire.

Group	Pain descriptor
1	Flickering, quivering, pulsing, throbbing, beating, pounding
2	Jumping, flashing, shooting
3	Pricking, boring, drilling, stabbing, lancinating
4	Sharp, cutting, lacerating
5	Pinching, pressing, gnawing, cramping, crushing
6	Tugging, pulling, wrenching
7	Hot, burning, scalding, searing
8	Tingling, itchy, smarting, stinging
9	Dull, sore, hurting, aching, heavy
10	Tender, taut, rasping, splitting
11	Tiring, exhausting
12	Sickening, suffocating
13	Fearful, frightful, terrifying
14	Punishing, grueling, cruel, vicious, killing
15	Wretched, blinding
16	Annoying, troublesome, miserable, intense, unbearable
17	Spreading, radiating, penetrating, piercing
18	Tight, numb, squeezing, drawing, tearing
19	Cool, cold, freezing
20	Nagging, nauseating, agonizing, dreadful, torturing

Short-form McGill pain questionnaire

In 1987 Ronald Melzack developed a short-form of the MPQ (SF-MPQ) with 15 (eleven sensory and four affective) verbal pain descriptors. Perceived intensity of each descriptor is rated on a four-level intensity scale as 0 ('none'), 1 ('mild'), 2 ('moderate'), and 3 ('severe'), and three total pain scores reflecting sensory, affective and total descriptors are calculated. The SF-MPQ also includes the PPI of the MPQ and the VAS [68].

Factors influencing pain perception

Individual pain perception (Table 2) is multidimensional (Fig. 2) and influenced by interacting physiological, psychological, and social factors [69, 70].

Gender and sex

The term gender, based on social (instead of sex based on biological) characteristics according to the World Health Organization, is used in this thesis. There is increasing evidence for gender differences in pain sensitivity and analgesic response due to sex-related factors and gender roles, according to clinical and experimental studies regarding both acute and chronic pain [71].

Experimental studies reported higher pain sensitivity in females compared with males [18, 72-83][84-87], possibly reflecting sex differences [84] or psychosocial factors like gender-role expectations [88, 89]. Others did not find any gender difference in pain sensitivity to experimental pain [83, 88, 90]. In several clinical studies females perceived more pain than males after surgery [91-95], while others did not find any gender difference in postoperative pain [72, 96] or pain related to venous cannulation [97].

According to a recent review, chronic pain is more common in females [71], possibly because of differences in sex hormones [98]. Feminizing hormones (oestrogen and progesterone) were associated with higher pain sensitivity and with more musculoskeletal pain or headache, while masculinizing hormones (e.g. testosterone) were found to be protective against pain [98]. During labour elevated levels of oxytocin enhance positive mood and reduce anxiety, stress and pain [99].

Regarding investigator gender, there are experimental findings of lower pain sensitivity (higher pain threshold or lower pain intensity) in study participants evaluated by females [80-82, 85, 87, 88, 100-103]. Lower levels of pain intensity have been reported to female investigators in non-surgical orthopaedic patients [104, 105], but not in emergency care patients [106, 107] or early after cardiac surgery [108].

Age

The prevalence of pain in elderly has been reported to be higher than in [109, 110], or not differ from [111, 112], the general population. Pain sensitivity decreases with ageing, as recently established in an extensive review [83], also reporting decreased pain thresholds especially in lower pain range, in response to thermal heat, but not to pressure or electricity.

There is neurophysiological support of diminished ability of detecting harmful signals [113, 114], due to a decrease in grey masse [115] and A δ -fibres replaced by proliferating non-neuronal glial cells [116]. According to MRI studies, there is reduced activation of heat-induced pain in the insula and somatosensory cortex with increasing age [117, 118]. However, pain assessment might be challenging in elderly patients due to under-reporting, cognitive and sensory impairment [110].

Culture

Culture is a wide conception including ethnic background, religious beliefs, and socioeconomic affiliation. In the context of pain, it refers to social groups with similar predisposing characteristics [119]. Studies on pain and culture have primarily been performed in the United States comparing different ethnicities (using American established terms), finding patients of black American [120-124] and Latino [124-126] descent to have higher pain sensitivity than those of European descent, with more pronounced differences in females after surgery [127]. A study outside the Unites States on experimental pain found that Italian females had higher pain intensity scores compared with Swedes and Saudis [128]. According to a recent review [119] those culture-associated pain differences are probably most due to sociodemographic factors.

When to seek treatment for pain [129] and call for analgesics [130] is influenced by culture. Cultural differences in expression of pain [129], and knowledge of language [131], may affect communication of pain – with potential misinterpretation [132] and impaired interaction [133, 134] between patients and healthcare providers – more than actual pain. Being aware of cultural differences is a precondition for providing equal medical care and improving pain management [119].

Mood

Pain and mood are closely associated [135], with higher pain intensity following negative mood and lower pain intensity following positive mood, in acute [136] and chronic pain conditions [137]. Pain associated with a joyful experience e.g. childbirth, is probably easier to deal with than pain associated with malignancy.

Pain might be the primary symptom in depressed patients. Hence, responses to experimentally induced pain in those patients vary more various concerning pain threshold and pain tolerance. Depression and anxiety have been found to increase individual perception of acute pain intensity, and prolonged duration of acute pain has been found to be associated with mood dysregulation [138]. Imagination of expecting the worst may also exaggerate pain in terms of pain catastrophizing (Table 2).

Stress-induced analgesia, allowing an injured person ignoring the pain because of other stressful situations ongoing at the same time, is well documented in animal studies [139-142], and suggested to be influenced by norepinephrine [143]. Humans, compared with animals, have higher levels of cognitive processing of pain [144], which make it difficult to study one specific parameter (e.g. stress, which is also difficult to measure) affecting pain perception. Few studies have reported stress-induced analgesia in humans after noxious heat [145-147] or physical stress [148], and of enhanced pain during stress has also been found in patients with chronic pain (42), gastro-oesophageal reflux (98) or fibromyalgia [149], and accordingly stress-reducing psychological interventions have been used to alleviate pain in patients undergoing surgery [49, 150].

Experience

Individual perception of pain is also potentially influenced by earlier painful experiences [151, 152], and anticipation of pain has been reported to alter cortical nociceptive activity, despite no actual noxious stimulation, in study participants expecting a painful stimulus [153].

Individuals with more lifetime pain reacted more, i.e. had lower tolerance to cold pressure-induced pain [152], and females with recent painful occasions had higher pain sensitivity to thermal heat stimuli [87]. Higher pain sensitivity was also found in patients with chronic pancreatitis and previous experience of pain [154].

Associations have been found between pain history and tolerance to experimental pain in patients with chronic pain [155], and also in patients evaluated for prediction of postoperative pain [156]. This has been further explored in clinical studies on pain intensity levels associated with peripheral venous catheterization prior to surgery, where patients reporting cannulation-induced intensity of pain at or above 2.0 VAS units more often also developed moderate or severe surgical pain in the early postoperative period [157, 158].

Environment

Pain experience might be affected by the surroundings, situation, and social context. A bright recovery room with natural light and view of a landscape, might have a positive impact on pain [159], and patients listening to music after elective cardiac valve replacement, were found to have less postoperative pain and anxiety [160]. Intimate study settings with one-to-one environment facilitate nonverbal patient-physician interaction [74], possibly alleviating the patients' pain experience. In patients with chronic pain there is an association between more supportive social interactions, enhancing positive mood, and less pain [161, 162]. Accordingly, study participants have also been found to report lower intensity of ongoing pain after noxious thermal stimulation while viewing pictures of their partner than of a stranger [163].

Table 2.

Terminology of pain related expressions.

Pain vocabulary	
Pain sensitivity	Individual proneness to react to painful stimuli. (Previously difference between pain threshold and pain tolerance.)
Pain perception	Individual response to a noxious stimulation influenced by sensory, emotional, cognitive and behavioral dimensions.
Pain intensity	Magnitude of percieved pain.
Pain threshold	Individual minimum intensity of stimulus percieved as painful.
Pain tolerance	Individual maximum amount of pain percieved as bearable.
Pain catastrophizing	Negative cognitive-affective response to anticipated or actual pain with tendency to magnify the severity of pain, feel helpless in dealing with it and expect the worst possible outcomes.
Pain management	Pharmacological and non-pharmacological measures to prevent, reduce or stop pain sensations.

Aims

Aims of this thesis on various aspects of acute nociceptive pain in humans were to evaluate

- selective induction and assessment of delayed responses to nociceptive pain in humans (I).
- impact of participant gender on perception of nociceptive pain induced by stimulation with ultra-short laser, weak electrical current or surgery (I-IV).
- influence of investigator gender on assessment of nociceptive pain in experimental and clinical settings (II, III).
- relationship between investigator gender and energy levels of electrical stimulation to attain individual pain thresholds (II).
- association of investigator gender with postoperative pain intensity early after surgery (III).
- correlation of optional verbal descriptors of pain quality with Aδ- and Cfibre-associated pain early after surgery (IV).
- associations between reported optional descriptors of Aδ- and C-fibremediated pain and reported intensity levels of early postoperative pain (IV).

Methods

This thesis comprises two preclinical and two clinical scientific studies (Table 3). The first two papers (I-II) are based on two prospective preclinical studies in adult volunteers, with randomized paired crossover design in the second one (II). The third and fourth papers (III-IV) are based on a prospective observational study in three post-anaesthesia care units (PACUs) at Skåne University Hospital, Malmö, in southern Sweden.

All studies (I-IV) were approved by the regional Human Research Ethics Review Board in Lund, Sweden. The two clinical ones (III-IV) were also registered in the clinicaltrials.gov research database.

Study participants

Table 3.

Basic data on analysed study participants in papers I-IV. Abbreviations: n (number of patients)

Paper	Study design	Study participants	
I	Prospective unpaired	Healthy volunteers	42 (12)
П	Prospective randomized paired crossover	Healthy volunteers	40 (22)
111	Prospective observational paired crossover	Postoperative patients	244 (128)
IV	Prospective observational unpaired	Postoperative patients	227 (119)

Paper I

Forty-four healthy adult volunteers with no current history of pain were included in this preclinical prospective study (Table 3). Thermally induced individual nociceptive pain thresholds were determined based on ultra-short pulsed CO₂ laser stimulation in the plantar arc in each study volunteer by one of three study investigators (one female and two males). Each participant was subjected to four complete series, comprising three stimuli each, of laser stimulation, with predetermined individually titrated laser energy levels.

Paper II

Forty healthy adult volunteers with no current history of pain were included (Table 3 & Fig. 6). Each participant was subjected to electrical pain stimulation to induce pain threshold (in a series of three) and evaluated pain intensity, twice at 10-to-15-minute intervals, according to a predefined randomized crossover design schedule, by a female and a male investigator. The participants were blinded to the main purpose of the study.





Papers III-IV

In total, 245 adult patients subjected to scheduled or acute, in- or out-hospital, abdominal, urological, gynaecological, vascular or breast surgery with different surgical techniques, aged 18 years or above, with cognitive and linguistic abilities to participate, and with perceived postoperative pain at the time of initial evaluation, were included in this prospective observational clinical study (Fig. 7 & Table 3).

The study patients, blinded to the main purpose of the study, received study information on evaluation by verbal pain descriptors and pain intensity scores, but


Figure 7.

Flow chart of the inclusion process of study patients in papers III and IV.

not on potential impact of investigator or patient gender. Postoperative pain was evaluated with verbal pain descriptors and VAS early after arrival in the PACU (IV). Pain intensity levels were evaluated twice in each study patient – with approximately 15 minutes in between – according to a paired crossover study design, by two investigators of opposite genders (III).

Induction of pain

Laser stimulation (I)

Nociceptive pain was thermally induced by ultra-short pulsed CO₂ laser stimulation (10 W effect, 3 mm beam diameter), with a Coherent Ultrapulse 2500C w CPG Laser (Coherent Inc., Santa Clara, California, USA), in the plantar arc. A primary outcome parameter was individual level of laser energy density. At the time of evaluation, the study participants were familiar with the technique of CO₂ laser stimulation, since the laser energy to be consistently used in each participant was determined at least 48 hours in advance by incremental five-millisecond increases in pulse duration, starting at 10 ms, until mild intensity levels of immediate and/or delayed pain were consistently induced. Individual levels of laser energy density (mJ/mm²) were calculated from laser effect, pulse duration, and beam diameter. During the following study session individually titrated levels of laser energy were delivered in series of four in slightly different skin areas at minute-long intervals.

Electrical stimulation (II)

Weak electrical current was used to induce nociceptive pain (Fig. 8), and thereby determine individual electrical pain thresholds (EPT), with a stimulation device called Painmatcher[®] (Cefar Medical AB, Lund, Sweden), delivering monophasic rectangular electrical pulses of 10 Hz frequency and 15 mA amplitude on closure of a circuit between the thumb and index finger. To gradually increase pain intensity, the pulse duration is increased to a maximum of 396 μ s in steps of 4 μ s. The maximum energy delivered in pain magnitude scores (0–99) is recorded by the investigator from a display hidden to the subject. The study participants were told to press two buttons simultaneously on the device between their finger pulps, and then to release them as soon as the level of stimulation was considered to be painful, in series of three, and individual mean scores of EPT were calculated.



Figure 8.

Stimulation of pain with electricity. Drawing by my 7-year-old daughter Ida.

Surgical stimulation (III-IV)

Clinical acute pain was evaluated early after various kinds of acute or scheduled inor our-hospital surgery in a mixed cohort of adult postoperative patients. The procedures comprised abdominal, urological, gynaecological, vascular or breast surgery with endoscopic/minimally invasive, laparoscopic, or open techniques.

Evaluation of pain

Assessment of pain intensity (I-IV)

For quantitative evaluation of pain, we have chosen VAS, considered as the golden standard for assessment of pain intensity levels with high accuracy. A primary outcome parameter in all studies included in this thesis was pain intensity assessed with VAS. Mild and moderate-to-severe pain was defined as pain intensity scores below and above 4.0 VAS units.

Assessment of pain quality (IV)

Individual verbal descriptors were chosen for qualitative evaluation of pain. The study patients were asked to describe the character of perceived ongoing pain in their own words in Swedish (subsequently translated into English). The first pain descriptor reported by each patient was recorded and categorized according to its association with myelinated A δ -fibre-mediated, nonmyelinated C-fibre-mediated or non-specific pain, based on a proposed MPQ pain quality descriptor ranking for discrimination between nociceptors [29].

Statistics (I-IV)

Parametrical data is reported as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Non-parametrical data (of laser energy density, EPT and pain intensity levels) is reported as median with interquartile range (IQR). Proportions are reported with 95 % confidence interval (CI).

The Mann-Whitney U-test was used to compare continuous variables (of laser energy density, EPT and pain intensity levels) between study groups (I-IV).

The Wilcoxon signed rank test was used to compare the nonparametric distribution of paired variables (EPT and pain intensity levels) between female and male investigators, and between first and second study occasions (II, III).

Individual mean values of pain intensity levels were tested for order effect with the Friedman's test, and linear regression with a mixed model approach (I).

Proportions of categorical variables were compared with Pearson's Chi-square test (investigator gender, and pain intensity scores below/above 4.0 VAS units) (III), and Fisher's exact test (A δ - and C-fibre-associated categories of verbal pain descriptors, pain intensity scores below/above 4.0 VAS units, and patient gender) (IV).

The Bland-Altman plot was used to compare individual differences of pain intensity scores between the investigators, and individual mean values of pain intensity (III).

Levels of probability (*P*) below 0.05 were considered statistically significant (I-IV). The Bonferroni test was used to adjust for multiple significance when necessary (II).

Results and reflections

Table 4.

Demographic data on study participants in papers I-IV. Abbreviations: ASA (American Society of Anesthesiologists), n (number of patients)

	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Gender				
Female	12 (29)	22 (55)	128 (52)	119 (52)
Male	30 (71)	18 (45)	116 (48)	108 (48)
Age				
18-29 years	36 (86)	33 (83)	23 (9)	21 (9)
30-49 years	6 (14)	7 (17)	53 (22)	53 (24)
50-64 years	0 (0)	0 (0)	53 (22)	46 (20)
65+ years	0 (0)	0 (0)	115 (47)	107 (47)
Weight				
≤ 50 kg	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (1)	3 (1)
51-89 kg	38 (90)	40 (100)	182 (75)	167 (74)
≥ 90 kg	4 (10)	0 (0)	58 (24)	56 (25)
ASA classification				
1	42 (100)	40 (100)	47 (19)	45 (20)
II	0 (0)	0 (0)	127 (52)	116 (51)
III	0 (0)	0 (0)	67 (28)	64 (28)
IV	0 (0)	0 (0)	3 (1)	2 (1)

Induction of pain (I-IV)

Is stimulation with laser or electricity appropriate for induction of pain? (I, II)

All patients (Table 4) reported either single or double pain responses to CO_2 laser stimulation (I). Thus, this technique meets criteria for induction of nociceptive pain in a reliable and reproducible way, as also confirmed by others [164]. The CO_2 laser

enables use of carefully titrated energy density levels to determine individual pain thresholds while avoiding skin damage. In contrast, predetermined energy levels of laser stimulation have been used by others [16, 164-167]. Individual titration by gradually increasing the laser pulse duration [168, 169] at slightly different sites, also reduces potential risks of peripheral sensitisation and habituation [21].

All study participants (Table 4) repeated self-induced series of electrical pain stimulation with the Painmatcher[®] once, and individual EPT levels did not differ between the first and second series (P > 0.300) (II). Hence, this user-friendly, affordable, and portable device [37] induces nociceptive pain in a reproducible and reliable way [33], in agreement with results obtained by electrical stimulation of the thumb and index finger with a similar device [83].



Figure 9.

Individually titrated levels of energy density and correspondingly reported intensity levels of immediate and delayed pain responses to ultra-short stimulation with CO_2 laser in 42 healthy adult volunteers (I). Immediate and delayed responses are interpreted to reflect Aδ- and C-fibre-mediated pain, respectively. Abbrevation: VAS (visual analogue scale)

Can ultra-short laser stimulation selectively induce delayed pain? (I)

In our study cohort (I), the first component of pain appeared immediately and the second at least one second after the laser pulse, with all single pain responses being delayed. Twenty-nine study participants consistently reported double pain responses to each nociceptive stimulus, whereas thirteen reported single pain responses at least once. In study participants with single, compared with double, pain responses, significantly lower median (IQR) levels of energy density were used (62 (54-71) vs.

88 (64-110) mJ/mm²; P = 0.003) (Fig. 9), in agreement with warning signalling by Aδ-fibres [16]. Thus, ultra-short laser pulses allow both pain components to be independently evaluated provided that temperature thresholds of both kinds of nociceptors are exceeded [16, 28, 164, 165, 170, 171]. Maximum separation in time, to improve registration, of first and second pain responses, is achieved by inducing pain in the foot [16, 166, 170] instead of in the hand [28, 171-174], enabling 35 % more delayed transmission of the delayed pain response.

Although nociceptor thresholds are dependent on baseline skin temperature [164], this ultra-short laser technique has been shown to induce similar local heating patterns at skin temperatures between 27 and 32 °C [16, 169]. We did not measure skin temperature, but considering that A δ -fibre nociceptors demand 2.5–4.1°C higher temperature than C-fibres to fire action potentials, immediate pain responses to high-energy laser stimulation might primarily be interpreted to represent A δ -fibre-mediated pain [16].

Though we did not use neuronal or cerebrocortical electrophysiological measurements like others [28, 169] to distinguish between immediate and delayed pain responses, our one-second latency between those double pain responses is consistent with neurophysiological findings [174], indicating that first and second pain responses represent A δ - and C-fibre-mediated nociception. This is in line with previous studies using reaction time to distinguish between first and second pain responses [29, 164, 167], also confirmed by combining reaction time with pain-related evoked potentials [37].

How much pain is induced early after surgery? (III-IV)

In our mixed cohort of postoperative patients (Table 4) subjected to various surgical procedures and evaluated with VAS scoring (III), study data was analysed in 244 (128 females) patients (Table 3). Their reported median (IQR) pain intensity was 2.5 (1.4-3.9) VAS units, and three fourths reported mild postoperative pain. This is in agreement with recent findings in a comparable study cohort after various kind of surgery, evaluated with NRS scoring [175]. According to a German multicentre study from 2013 in 70 000 patients after various surgical procedures [176], the maximum pain intensity on the first postoperative day was 5 (3-7) NRS units, i.e. considerably above results obtained in our study cohort, interpreted to reflect better perioperative pain relief. However, postoperative pain intensity levels were not correlated to degree of surgical incision, in line with our findings of no difference in VAS scores between endoscopic, laparoscopic, or open surgery (P >0.300). Moreover, reported pain scores after some major surgical procedures were lower, presumably due to sufficient epidural analgesia or high-dose opioid, than after some minor procedures where analgesic requirements might have been underestimated [176].

Evaluation of pain (I-IV)

What are the benefits of using VAS? (I-IV)

By using VAS, considered to have higher sensitivity [177-179] than few-point categorical pain scales (VRS and NRS) for evaluation of pain intensity in our studies (I-IV), we were able to detect and statistically confirm quite small differences. The accuracy [180] of VAS enabled us to significantly verify differences far below 1.0 VAS units in our clinical study (III), in contrast to pain evaluation with NRS. Though these findings may not be relevant at group level, they may still be relevant to individual patients, especially those reporting pain intensity where analgesic intervention should be considered. Besides, because VAS is considered to be non-linear [60, 181], standardized minimum clinically significant changes are meaningless, because they will either under- or overestimate [56, 57] true changes. The high precision of VAS [177-179] must also be considered when studies report lower error rates with VRS [182] and NRS [183] than with VAS, probably reflecting errors not being detectable with few-point categorical pain scales.

Although VAS, VRS and NRS are all considered valid, reliable, and appropriate for use in clinical practice, some patients find it more difficult to assess pain intensity with VAS than with other scales [184-186]. Nevertheless, in our studies only two participants (I) were excluded due to difficult pain assessment with VAS. To make VAS easier to use, practice before pain assessment has been proposed [183]. In our studies (I-III) verbal instructions for assessment with VAS were given to the study participants by the investigators before pain evaluation, and in the first study (I) the study participants got even more familiar with VAS during titration of individual pain thresholds. VAS has also been found by others to be useful in individuals able to adequately understand basic principles and respond to simple instructions [178].

According to a review from the mid-zeroes [186], correlations between VAS and VRS cannot be properly established, and although associations between VAS and NRS have been reported, available data indicates that direct conversion between those scales cannot be made [56], plausibly cohering with their non-linear properties. The ordinal properties of VAS data [60, 181] call for use of non-parametrical statistics (I-IV).

The similar levels of pain intensity recorded in this project (I-IV), corresponding to mild pain with median values of pain intensity at around 2.5 VAS units, make comparisons between the studies (I-IV) easier and more relevant (Table 5).

Study				IV
Median (IQR) pain intensity, VAS units	2.4 (1.4-3.0)	2.0 (1.1-3.2)	2.5 (1.4-3.9)	2.6 (1.4-4.0)

Table 5.Reported median (IQR) levels of pain intensity in study participants in papers I-IV.Abbreviations: IQR (interquartile range), VAS (visual analogue scale)

Do verbal pain descriptors add valuable information to VAS scores early after surgery? (IV)

In our study, data from 227 (119 female) patients (Table 4) was analysed considering qualitative and quantitative evaluation of pain early after arrival at the PACU, and around half of them reported optional verbal quality descriptors associated with either A δ -fibre-mediated (26 %) or C-fibre-mediated (28 %) postoperative pain. Reported verbal pain descriptors, 17 in total and 13 MPQ-validated, are shown, in proportion to relative occurrence, in Figure 10.

Qualitative tools for pain evaluation (MPQ and SF-MPQ) have been found to add valuable information on pain character to unidimensional pain intensity scores [187]. Moreover, it might be easier for patients to describe their pain in (eligible or optional) words than according to a unidimensional scale, especially after surgery with potential cognitive dysfunction, nausea, and mood dysregulation. In contrast, patients responded better to clinical change with VAS than MPQ evaluation over the first 24 hours after lumbar scheduled surgery [188].

We found that patients with mild pain more often reported quality descriptors associated with C-fibre- than A δ -fibre-mediated pain (P = 0.007). Accordingly, lower (P = 0.047) pain intensity levels were associated with verbal descriptors reflecting C-fibre-mediated postoperative pain. These correlations between descriptors and scores of pain might facilitate understanding and rapid interpretation of mild and moderate-to-severe early postoperative pain, as also suggested in an experimental study relating MPQ descriptors to A δ - or C-fibre-mediated pain [29].

Our reported high incidence of verbal descriptors reflecting non-specific pain (46 %), might reflect problems describing perceived pain in optional words (possibly because of low pain intensity) instead of predefined eligible words [67, 68]. Nevertheless, optional verbal descriptors might have made it easier for some study patients to convey their ongoing postoperative pain, considering that 76 % of patients reported optional A δ - or C-fibre-associated quality pain descriptors without difficulty.

By not including patients with linguistic impairment, potentially unnuanced or incorrect translations of verbal pain descriptors were avoided. Each original Swedish verbal descriptor was translated into English, based on a validated Swedish version of the SF-MPQ [189], or (if not included there) by repeated translation and

retranslation between the two languages, made independently by two investigators, until the descriptor in English no longer differed from the original descriptor in Swedish.

By providing a more gradated picture of the patient's perception of ongoing postoperative pain, multidimensional evaluation, based on simultaneous use of qualitative and quantitative bedside tools, might optimize pain management, both regarding immediate pain relief and promotion of rapid recovery after surgery.



Figure 10.

Optional verbal quality descriptors of pain, included in the McGill pain questionnaire, reported in the early postoperative period by 124 adult surgical patients, and shown in proportion to their relative occurrence (IV).

Gender aspects on pain perception (I-III)

Does gender influence experimentally induced pain? (I, II)

Evaluation of experimental pain induced by ultra-short laser (I) or weak electrical (II) stimulation did not differ significantly between females and males with respect to levels of laser energy density (P = 0.060) – but with a tendency towards higher energy laser density levels in males – or EPT levels (P > 0.300), and neither to pain intensity scores of pain threshold (P > 0.300) (I, II) as shown in Table 6.

Our lack of subject gender impact on experimental pain is in line with earlier findings in thermally induced pain [88, 90, 190]. On the other hand, many studies

have found higher pain sensitivity in females compared with males after various experimental stimuli [18, 72-82, 84-87, 190]. Those various findings were confirmed in a review from 2012 [191], reporting lower pain thresholds in females subjected to pressure-induced experimental pain.



Figure 11.

Levels of individually titrated laser energy density in five males evaluated by a female investigator compared with five males, matched for pain intensity, evaluated by a male investigator (I). Median (IQR) energy density levels were 224 (160-253) mJ/mm² with a female, and 74 (60-81) mJ/mm² with a male, investigator (P = 0.008).

Interestingly, in study I we found that significantly higher (P = 0.008) titrated levels of laser energy density were used in five males evaluated by a female than in five males, matched for reported pain intensity, evaluated by a male (Fig. 11). This finding was the source of inspiration for our next paper (II), where we, based on randomized paired crossover study design, were able to confirm our results of gender impact, with higher levels of EPT (P < 0.0001) obtained by the female than by the male investigator (Table 6). Moreover, individually calculated EPT levels were higher in four fifths of evaluations made by the female investigator, and pain intensity levels did not differ depending on investigator gender (Table 6).

Our findings are in line with earlier studies reporting lower pain sensitivity (higher pain threshold or lower pain intensity) in study participants evaluated by females after various kinds of stimuli [80-82, 85, 87, 88, 100-103]. In contrast to some of those studies [85, 100], we did not exaggerate gender stereotypes (I, II), as also done elsewhere [102], but used study investigators with similar age, BMI, and education,

dressed in gender-neutral hospital-clothing (white physician coats), thereby reducing bias beyond investigator gender. Furthermore, the investigators used predefined study instructions to minimize individual or gender-based verbal influence. Those factors strengthen the use of only one study investigator of each gender, also avoiding interindividual variations, which otherwise might be considered as a disadvantage compared with similar unpaired studies [82, 102] using several investigators. Blinding of our study participants (but not investigators) to the main purpose of the study (potential impact of investigator gender on pain perception) is believed to have diminished potential psychosocial impact of gender role expectations on results obtained (II).

Table 6.

Reported median (IQR) levels of EPT and pain intensity in female and male study participants evaluated by female and male study investigators (II). Abbreviations: EPT (electrical pain threshold), IQR (interquartile range), VAS (visual analogue scale)

	Female investigator		Male investigator	
	EPT (pain magnitude scores)	Pain intensity (VAS units)	EPT (pain magnitude scores)	Pain intensity (VAS units)
Female participant	22 (13-34)	2.0 (1.2-2.9)	7 (6-9)	2.1 (1.2-3.4)
Male participant	22 (9-28)	1.5 (1.2-3.0)	9 (7-11)	1.6 (1.0-3.4)

Does gender influence surgical pain? (III-IV)

Pain intensity levels did not differ between female and male study patients in our clinical study (III-IV), as also reported in two recent studies on postoperative pain [72, 96]. In contrast, whereas other studies have reported higher pain intensity levels in females after various kind of surgery [91-95]. In line with this, a recent review concludes that higher extents of femininity or female social roles are associated with lower thresholds and less tolerance to clinical pain [192]. Reported quality pain descriptors (categorized as $A\delta$ - or C-fibre-associated) did not differ between female and male study patients (IV). In contrast, female patients with shoulder pain have been reported to use C-fibre-associated verbal pain descriptors more often than male patients [193].

Lower VAS scores of pain intensity were reported by more patients to the female than to the male investigator (P < 0.001). Accordingly, and in line with our experimental findings (I, II), pain intensity levels obtained by the female investigator were significantly lower (P = 0.006) than those obtained by the male investigator regardless of pain intensity level. Previously, lower levels of pain intensity have been obtained by female investigators in non-surgical orthopaedic patients [104, 105], but not in emergency care patients [106, 107] or early after cardiac surgery [108]. The female investigator recorded lower reported pain intensity in male (P < 0.001), but not female, patients (Fig. 12 & 13). Although the levels of pain intensity reported to the female study investigator were just slightly lower than those reported to the male investigator, this small difference was large enough to be statistically confirmed. These findings might still be relevant to individual patient management, particularly considering that the largest difference was recorded at clinically relevant intensity levels of pain, around 3 VAS units, where postoperative patients usually start calling for pain relief.



Figure 12.

Pain intensity levels in 116 male patients obtained by a female investigator and by a male investigator according to paired crossover study design (III). Median values are indicated by horizontal lines, interquartile ranges by boxes, and total ranges by vertical lines. Abbreviations: VAS (visual analogue scale)

One can argue that with only one investigator of each gender, the findings might be more due to individual investigators characteristics than to investigator gender. On the other hand, interindividual variations between female and male investigators are avoided, ensuring the same approach of gender evaluation in each study patient, in contrast to a previous similar study [175]. Moreover, higher electrical stimulation found to induce the same intensity of perceived pain in males evaluated by a female than by a male (II), encouraged clinical evaluation by one female and one male investigator (III-IV), equally dressed in white gender-neutral hospital clothes and similar in age, BMI, and education, not to exaggerate gender stereotypes like in earlier studies [85, 100]. Furthermore, the study patients received predefined verbal study instructions not including the main purpose of the study (of potential impact on investigator gender), to potentially avoid gender role expectations [194]. Despite standardized verbal communication instructions read from predefined protocols by the investigators, non-verbal communication, reported to be more used by females

[195] comprising more intense eye-contact and frequent smiling [196], might have been enhanced in our study setting, also considering that stronger empathic abilities of females dealing with pain in others have been reported [197], possibly promoting non-verbal communication.



Figure 13.

The same male patient reporting lower pain intensity levels to a female than to a male investigator. Drawing by my 13-year-old daughter Alma.

Other aspects on pain perception (I-IV)

What else may influence pain perception? (I-IV)

In our preclinical studies (I, II), the more intimate study setting with calm and quiet one-to-one environment might have facilitated non-verbal subject-investigator interaction, found in a study on communication in primary care [74]. In contrast,

our clinical study setting in the PACU (III-IV) might have been stressful and noisy with constant flow of other patients and busy healthcare staff (III-IV), not promoting intimate communication with the individual patient. However, the ability to describe pain in the PACU was not considered to be an issue in our studies (I-IV) designed to evaluate pain, in contrast to postoperative patients after orthopaedic or general surgery who were affected by attitudes from the healthcare staff, with following fear of conflicting with them or being perceived as whining [198].

Our mixed study cohort of patients subjected to various kinds of acute or scheduled surgery might have been affected by negative moods of stress and anxiety after perilous or complicated surgery as well as by positive moods of joy and relief after safe and successful surgery, potentially exaggerating, or easing, their experience of pain in the early postoperative period [136]. We did not take earlier pain experiences into account when evaluating pain perception (III-IV), which might have influenced expectations as well as results obtained [156].

Although our study cohort was diverse in age, sociocultural background, comorbidity, and surgical procedure, we chose not to evaluate pain perception in those specific contexts to avoid multiple significance testing and maintain enough statistical power. Pain intensity levels were not associated with surgical technique (P > 0.300).

Do methodological aspects affect outcome of pain perception? (I-IV)

An advantage of paired crossover study design, i.e. that study participants are their own controls, is that fewer study participants are required to reach a large enough cohort (II-III). Findings of higher pain intensity scores reported during the first than during the second series of stimulation is compensated for with our paired crossover design (II).

Individual titration at least two days before start of each study session (I) and minute-long time intervals between laser-induced nociceptive stimulations, are both measures taken to elude overlap of laser heat pulses, thus avoiding carry-over effects. There was no statistical order effect in immediate pain intensity levels (P > 0.300), but the intensity of delayed pain was significantly higher (P < 0.001) during the first (out of four) series of stimulation. Nevertheless, order effects were decreased, and data accuracy improved, by using median values of individually calculated average data (I), and paired crossover design (II-III). There was no significant difference (P > 0.300) in EPT levels between the first and second series of stimulation (II).

Another potential weakness of the first clinical study part (III) is that the investigators were unable to obtain scores of pain intensity simultaneously in the study patients. However, we estimate small individual changes in postoperative pain intensity within the approximate 15-minute interval between assessments, since few

patients were given analgesic drugs immediately before or between the evaluations, and since those interventions did not have an impact on overall results.

To compensate for potential differences in induction of pain with two identical calibrated electrical devices, each one was used by each investigator in half of the study participants. Carry-over effects were avoided by allowing enough time (approximately 15 minutes) between the study sessions (II).

In the clinical study randomization was not possible due to inclusion of the postoperative patients close to discharge from the PACU (III). Nevertheless, approximately half of them were first investigated by the female according to the crossover design.

Conclusions

- Delayed nociceptive pain, presumably reflecting neural transmission by Cfibres is selectively inducible and evaluable in humans, considering that individually titrated ultra-short pulses of CO₂ laser stimulation were found to enable separate intensity scoring of immediate and delayed pain responses (I).
- Gender does not considerably influence how acute pain is being perceived, considering that study participant gender was not found to affect individually reported intensity levels of acute nociceptive pain induced by stimulation with ultra-short laser, weak electrical current or surgery (I-IV).
- Pain perception is influenced by investigator gender, considering that lower pain sensitivity was confirmed in study participants evaluated by female than by male investigators (I-III) without also emphasizing traditional gender roles in the experimental or clinical study settings (II-III).
- Being investigated by a female is associated with higher resistance to experimentally induced pain, considering that higher levels of electrical stimulation were found to be required, regardless of participant gender, to attain individual pain threshold levels with a female than with a male investigator (II).
- Being investigated by a female is associated with higher resistance to postoperative pain in males, considering that lower reported intensity levels of surgical pain in the early postoperative period were obtained by a female than by a male investigator in a mixed cohort of adult study patients (III).
- Most optional verbal descriptors of pain quality reflect Aδ- or C-fibre-mediated postoperative pain, considering that associations were confirmed between Aδor C-fibre-associated postoperative pain and more than half of reported optional pain descriptors, early after surgery in a mixed cohort of adult postoperative patients (IV).
- Aδ-fibre-associated verbal quality descriptors of pain reflect higher levels of postoperative pain intensity than do C-fibre-associated descriptors, considering that reported quality descriptors reflecting Aδ-fibre-mediated pain were found to be associated with higher levels of pain intensity than those reflecting Cfibre-mediated pain, and that pain intensity corresponding to mild postoperative pain was more frequently reported together with verbal descriptors reflecting Cfibre- than Aδ-fibre-mediated transmission of pain, early after surgery in a mixed cohort of adult postoperative patients (IV).

Future perspectives

This thesis emphasizes the fact that pain is multidimensional, with physiological and psychosocial components, and that pain perception is individual.

Further experimental and clinical studies are highly desirable on investigator gender and pain perception, also taking other factors influencing pain into consideration. Besides facilitating future studies, hopefully our results will encourage healthcare staff to focus more on factors influencing pain, particularly investigator gender, considering that females comprise a vast majority of healthcare staff.

Further development on how to use verbal quality descriptors of pain is most desirable, and especially studies on potential rapid discrimination of pain intensity levels by verbal pain descriptors. In a clinical context, promoting combined use of qualitative and quantitative tools for pain evaluation is important for a more multimodal approach to improve pain management, clinical recovery and return to daily life in patients undergoing surgery.

Acknowledgements

Thank you to my supervisor **Jonas Åkeson**, professor at the Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive care at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö. I am deeply grateful for having you as my supervisor. For believing in me from the beginning, your ability of making something that seem complicated to suddenly become clear, and always being enthusiastic and devoted. I have learnt so much from you during this PhD process and I have really appreciated our cooperation.

Thank you to my co-supervisor **Henrik Dyhre**, former head of the Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive care at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, for employing me at the department, for believing in me and supporting me in my research.

Thank you to **Anders Rehn**, head of the Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive care at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, for believing in me as a clinician and researcher, and by supporting the 'amanuensis concept' at the clinic, which made it possible for me to accomplish my PhD thesis.

I would like to thank all my wonderful **colleagues** at the Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive care at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö. I love the social spirit at our clinic, and I am grateful for all I have learnt from you and for supporting my research.

A special thanks to the 'Anaesthesia girls' **Louise and Helena** for 'growing up' together at the Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive care at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, and for always being there supporting me in my research, clinical situations or after work.

Thank you to my closest friends **Pia**, **Nanna**, **Johanna**, **Mia**, **Bea**, and **Charlotte** for always being there. You mean everything to me.

I would like to thank my beloved **parents** for your great love, care, and support since I was born. Thank you to my dad **Johan** for being a great role model as a colleague in anaesthesiology and intensive care, and for inspiring me to do a PhD thesis. I still remember your doctoral dissertation 30 years ago. Thank you to my mom **Marie-Louise**, for your big heart, always putting others first. Your stay at our home when I was finishing writing my thesis was invaluable in a busy family life.

Thank you to my wonderful brothers **Erik** and **Fredrik** and sweet sisters-in-law **Johanna** and **Louise**, for love and support.

Thank you to my amazing husband Lars – the love of my life – for support and understanding, love and caring, and for accompanying me at late nights working on my thesis.

Thank you to my adorable children **Alma**, **Axel**, **and Ida** for giving me and **Lars** so much joy and happiness, and for your contribution of drawings in my thesis. My love for you is endless.

References

- 1. Gunzburg R. Poena, the goddess of divine retribution. Eur Spine J. 2015;24(3):415-6.
- 2. Sabatowski R, Schafer D, Kasper MS, Brunsch H, Radbruch L. Pain treatment: A historical overview. Curr Pharm Des. 2004;10(7):701-16.
- 3. Ramey D, Buell PD. A true history of acupuncture. Focus Alt Compl Ther. 2004;9(4):269-73.
- 4. Meldrum ML. A capsule history of pain management. JAMA. 2003;290(18):2470-5.
- 5. Melzack R, Wall PD. Pain mechanisms: a new theory. Science. 1965;150(3699):971-9.
- 6. Katz J, Rosenbloom BN. The golden anniversary of Melzack and Wall's gate control theory of pain: Celebrating 50 years of pain research and management. Pain Res Manag. 2015;20(6):285-6.
- 7. Raja SN, Carr DB, Cohen M, Finnerup NB, Flor H, Gibson S, et al. The revised International Association for the Study of Pain definition of pain: concepts, challenges, and compromises. Pain. 2020;161(9):1976-82.
- 8. Kosek E, Cohen M, Baron R, Gebhart GF, Mico JA, Rice ASC, et al. Do we need a third mechanistic descriptor for chronic pain states? Pain. 2016;157(7):1382-6.
- 9. Loeser JD, Treede R-D. The Kyoto protocol of IASP basic pain terminology. Pain. 2008;137(3):473-7.
- 10. Yam MF, Loh YC, Tan CS, Khadijah Adam S, Abdul Manan N, Basir R. General pathways of pain sensation and the major neurotransmitters involved in pain regulation. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(8).
- 11. Treede RD, Rief W, Barke A, Aziz Q, Bennett MI, Benoliel R, et al. A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. Pain. 2015;156(6):1003-7.
- 12. Raffaeli W, Tenti M, Corraro A, Malafoglia V, Ilari S, Balzani E, et al. Chronic pain: What does it mean? A review on the use of the term chronic pain in clinical practice. J Pain Res. 2021;14:827-35.
- 13. Jessop J. Basic neurophysiology of pain. Curr Anaesth Crit Care. 1993;4(2):64-9.
- 14. Dubin AE, Patapoutian A. Nociceptors: the sensors of the pain pathway. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(11):3760-72.
- 15. Le Bars D, Willer J-C. Pain modulation triggered by high-intensity stimulation: implication for acupuncture analgesia? Int Congr Ser. 2002;1238:11-29.
- 16. Plaghki L, Decruynaere C, Van Dooren P, Le Bars D. The fine tuning of pain thresholds: a sophisticated double alarm system. PLoS One. 2010;5(4):e10269.

- Ørstavik K, Weidner C, Schmidt R, Schmelz M, Hilliges M, Jørum E, et al. Pathological C-fibres in patients with a chronic painful condition. Brain. 2003;126(Pt 3):567-78.
- 18. Garcia E, Godoy-Izquierdo D, Godoy JF, Perez M, Lopez-Chicheri I. Gender differences in pressure pain threshold in a repeated measures assessment. Psychol Health Med. 2007;12(5):567-79.
- 19. Bourne S, Machado AG, Nagel SJ. Basic anatomy and physiology of pain pathways. Neurosurg Clin N Am. 2014;25(4):629-38.
- 20. Coppola G, Di Lorenzo C, Schoenen J, Pierelli F. Habituation and sensitization in primary headaches. J Headache Pain. 2013;14(1):65.
- Greffrath W, Baumgärtner U, Treede RD. Peripheral and central components of habituation of heat pain perception and evoked potentials in humans. Pain. 2007;132(3):301-11.
- 22. Rankin CH, Abrams T, Barry RJ, Bhatnagar S, Clayton DF, Colombo J, et al. Habituation revisited: an updated and revised description of the behavioral characteristics of habituation. Neurobiol Learn Mem. 2009;92(2):135-8.
- 23. Lau BK, Vaughan CW. Descending modulation of pain: the GABA disinhibition hypothesis of analgesia. Curr Opin Neurobiol. 2014;29:159-64.
- 24. Kasper D, Fauci A, Hauser S, Longo D, Jameson J, Loscalzo J. Harrison's principles of internal medicine, 19e: Mcgraw-hill New York, NY, USA. 2015.
- 25. Mücke M, Cuhls H, Radbruch L, Baron R, Maier C, Tölle T, et al. Quantitative sensory testing (QST). English version. Schmerz. 2021;35(Suppl 3):153-60.
- 26. Arendt-Nelsen L, Bjerring P. Reaction times to painless and painful CO2 and argon laser stimulation. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol. 1988;58(3):266-73.
- 27. Chen ACN, Arendt-Nielsen L, Plaghki L. Laser-evoked potentials in human pain: I. Use and possible misuse. Pain Forum. 1998;7(4):174-84.
- 28. Bromm B, Treede RD. Nerve fibre discharges, cerebral potentials and sensations induced by CO2 laser stimulation. Hum Neurobiol. 1984;3(1):33-40.
- 29. Beissner F, Brandau A, Henke C, Felden L, Baumgärtner U, Treede RD, et al. Quick discrimination of A(delta) and C fiber mediated pain based on three verbal descriptors. PLoS One. 2010;5(9):e12944.
- 30. Handwerker HO, Kobal G. Psychophysiology of experimentally induced pain. Physiol Rev. 1993;73(3):639-71.
- 31. Modir JG, Wallace MS. Human experimental pain models 2: the cold pressor model. Methods Mol Biol. 2010;617:165-8.
- 32. Göbel H, Westphal W. Experimental pain-induction methods in the systematic study of human pain: quality criteria. Schmerz. 1989;3(2):85-93.
- 33. Jung K, Arendt-Nielsen L. Electrically induced pain models: The benefit of "electric feel". Scand J Pain. 2010;1(4):203-4.
- Sang CN, Max MB, Gracely RH. Stability and reliability of detection thresholds for human A-Beta and A-delta sensory afferents determined by cutaneous electrical stimulation. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2003;25(1):64-73.

- 35. Persson AL, Westermark S, Merrick D, Sjölund BH. Validity of electrical stimulus magnitude matching in chronic pain. J Rehabil Med. 2009;41(11):898-903.
- Tanaka S, Gomez-Tames J, Inui K, Ueno S, Hirata A, Wasaka T. Synaptic effect of Aδ-Fibers by pulse-train electrical stimulation. Front Neurosci. 2021;15:643448.
- 37. Inui K, Kakigi R. Pain perception in humans: use of intraepidermal electrical stimulation. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2012;83(5):551-6.
- 38. Modir JG, Wallace MS. Human experimental pain models 3: heat/capsaicin sensitization and intradermal capsaicin models. Methods Mol Biol. 2010;617:169-74.
- 39. Chou R, Gordon DB, de Leon-Casasola OA, Rosenberg JM, Bickler S, Brennan T, et al. Management of postoperative pain: A clinical practice guideline from the American Pain Society, the American Society of Regional Anesthesia and Pain Medicine, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists' committee on regional anesthesia, executive committee, and administrative council. J Pain. 2016;17(2):131-57.
- 40. Gan TJ, Habib AS, Miller TE, White W, Apfelbaum JL. Incidence, patient satisfaction, and perceptions of post-surgical pain: results from a US national survey. Curr Med Res Opin. 2014;30(1):149-60.
- 41. Sommer M, de Rijke JM, van Kleef M, Kessels AG, Peters ML, Geurts JW, et al. The prevalence of postoperative pain in a sample of 1490 surgical inpatients. Eur J Anaesthesiol. 2008;25(4):267-74.
- 42. Benhamou D, Berti M, Brodner G, De Andres J, Draisci G, Moreno-Azcoita M, et al. Postoperative Analgesic THerapy Observational Survey (PATHOS): a practice pattern study in 7 central/southern European countries. Pain. 2008;136(1-2):134-41.
- 43. Nasir D, Howard JE, Joshi GP, Hill GE. A survey of acute pain service structure and function in United States hospitals. Pain Res Treat. 2011;2011:934932.
- 44. Kehlet H, Jensen TS, Woolf CJ. Persistent postsurgical pain: risk factors and prevention. Lancet. 2006;367(9522):1618-25.
- 45. Althaus A, Arránz Becker O, Neugebauer E. Distinguishing between pain intensity and pain resolution: Using acute post-surgical pain trajectories to predict chronic post-surgical pain. Eur J Pain. 2014;18(4):513-21.
- 46. Mathes T, Pape-Köhler C, Moerders L, Lux E, Neugebauer EAM. External validation and update of the RICP-A multivariate model to predict chronic postoperative pain. Pain Med. 2018;19(8):1674-82.
- 47. Belrose JC, Noppens RR. Anesthesiology and cognitive impairment: a narrative review of current clinical literature. BMC Anesthesiol. 2019;19(1):241.
- 48. Qian Y, Zhu J-k, Hou B-l, Sun Y-e, Gu X-p, Ma Z-l. Risk factors of postoperative nausea and vomiting following ambulatory surgery: A retrospective case-control study. Heliyon. 2022;8(12):e12430.
- Villa G, Lanini I, Amass T, Bocciero V, Scirè Calabrisotto C, Chelazzi C, et al. Effects of psychological interventions on anxiety and pain in patients undergoing major elective abdominal surgery: a systematic review. Periop Med. 2020;9(1):38.
- 50. Williamson A, Hoggart B. Pain: a review of three commonly used pain rating scales. J Clin Nurs. 2005;14(7):798-804.

- 51. Lara-Muñoz C, De Leon SP, Feinstein AR, Puente A, Wells CK. Comparison of three rating scales for measuring subjective phenomena in clinical research. I. Use of experimentally controlled auditory stimuli. Arch Med Res. 2004;35(1):43-8.
- 52. Flaherty SA. Pain measurement tools for clinical practice and research. Aana J. 1996;64(2):133-40.
- 53. Hjermstad MJ, Fayers PM, Haugen DF, Caraceni A, Hanks GW, Loge JH, et al. Studies comparing numerical rating scales, verbal rating scales, and visual analogue scales for assessment of pain intensity in adults: a systematic literature review. J Pain Sympt Manage. 2011;41(6):1073-93.
- 54. Breivik H, Borchgrevink PC, Allen SM, Rosseland LA, Romundstad L, Hals EK, et al. Assessment of pain. Br J Anaesth. 2008;101(1):17-24.
- 55. Delgado DA, Lambert BS, Boutris N, McCulloch PC, Robbins AB, Moreno MR, et al. Validation of digital visual analog scale pain scoring with a traditional paperbased visual analog scale in adults. J Am Acad Orthop Surg Glob Res Rev. 2018;2(3):e088.
- 56. DeLoach LJ, Higgins MS, Caplan AB, Stiff JL. The visual analog scale in the immediate postoperative period: intrasubject variability and correlation with a numeric scale. Anesth Analg. 1998;86(1):102-6.
- 57. Bijur PE, Silver W, Gallagher EJ. Reliability of the visual analog scale for measurement of acute pain. Acad Emerg Med. 2001;8(12):1153-7.
- 58. Escalona-Marfil C, Coda A, Ruiz-Moreno J, Riu-Gispert LM, Gironès X. Validation of an electronic visual analog scale health tool for acute pain assessment: Prospective cross-sectional study. J Med Internet Res. 2020;22(2):e13468.
- 59. Myles PS, Troedel S, Boquest M, Reeves M. The pain visual analog scale: is it linear or nonlinear? Anesth Analg. 1999;89(6):1517-20.
- 60. Lund I, Lundeberg T, Sandberg L, Budh CN, Kowalski J, Svensson E. Lack of interchangeability between visual analogue and verbal rating pain scales: a cross sectional description of pain etiology groups. BMC Med Res Methodol. 2005;5:31.
- 61. Bird SB, Dickson EW. Clinically significant changes in pain along the visual analog scale. Ann Emerg Med. 2001;38(6):639-43.
- 62. Walker BJ, Polaner DM, Berde CB. 44 Acute Pain. In: Coté CJ, Lerman J, Anderson BJ, editors. A practice of anesthesia for infants and children (Sixth Edition). Philadelphia: Elsevier; 2019. p. 1023-62.e15.
- 63. Merkel SI, Voepel-Lewis T, Shayevitz JR, Malviya S. The FLACC: a behavioral scale for scoring postoperative pain in young children. Pediatr Nurs. 1997;23(3):293-7.
- 64. Lundeberg T, Lund I, Dahlin L, Borg E, Gustafsson C, Sandin L, et al. Reliability and responsiveness of three different pain assessments. J Rehabil Med. 2001;33(6):279-83.
- 65. Bergh IHE, Stener-Victorin E, Wallin G, Mårtensson L. Comparison of the PainMatcher and the visual analogue scale for assessment of labour pain following administered pain relief treatment. Midwifery. 2011;27(1):e134-e9.

- 66. Ball C, Westhorpe RN. The History of Pain Measurement. Anaesth Int Care. 2011;39(4):529-.
- 67. Melzack R. The McGill Pain Questionnaire: major properties and scoring methods. Pain. 1975;1(3):277-99.
- 68. Melzack R. The short-form McGill Pain Questionnaire. Pain. 1987;30(2):191-7.
- 69. Fillingim RB. Individual differences in pain: understanding the mosaic that makes pain personal. Pain. 2017;158 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S11-s8.
- 70. Love-Jones S. Pain as a subjective, multidimensional experience. Pain. 2019. p. 141-4.
- 71. Bartley EJ, Fillingim RB. Sex differences in pain: a brief review of clinical and experimental findings. Br J Anaesth. 2013;111(1):52-8.
- 72. Jonnavithula N, Garg H, Allenki P, Aavula K. Influence of gender on postoperative pain in percutaneous nephrolithotomy: A prospective observational study. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2021;37(3):449-52.
- 73. Ferentzi E, Geiger M, Mai-Lippold SA, Köteles F, Montag C, Pollatos O. Interaction between sex and cardiac interoceptive accuracy in measures of induced pain. Front Psychol. 2020;11:577961.
- 74. Hall JA, Irish JT, Roter DL, Ehrlich CM, Miller LH. Gender in medical encounters: an analysis of physician and patient communication in a primary care setting. Health Psychol. 1994;13(5):384-92.
- 75. Chesterton LS, Barlas P, Foster NE, Baxter DG, Wright CC. Gender differences in pressure pain threshold in healthy humans. Pain. 2003;101(3):259-66.
- 76. Lund I, Lundeberg T, Kowalski J, Svensson E. Gender differences in electrical pain threshold responses to transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS). Neurosci Lett. 2005;375(2):75-80.
- 77. Kuhtz-Buschbeck JP, Andresen W, Göbel S, Gilster R, Stick C. Thermoreception and nociception of the skin: a classic paper of Bessou and Perl and analyses of thermal sensitivity during a student laboratory exercise. Adv Physiol Educ. 2010;34(2):25-34.
- Neziri AY, Scaramozzino P, Andersen OK, Dickenson AH, Arendt-Nielsen L, Curatolo M. Reference values of mechanical and thermal pain tests in a pain-free population. Eur J Pain. 2011;15(4):376-83.
- 79. Kröner-Herwig B, Gaßmann J, Tromsdorf M, Zahrend E. The effects of sex and gender role on responses to pressure pain. Psychosoc Med. 2012;9:Doc01.
- 80. Vigil JM, Rowell LN, Alcock J, Maestes R. Laboratory personnel gender and cold pressor apparatus affect subjective pain reports. Pain Res Manag. 2014;19(1):e13-8.
- 81. Averbeck B, Seitz L, Kolb FP, Kutz DF. Sex differences in thermal detection and thermal pain threshold and the thermal grill illusion: a psychophysical study in young volunteers. Biol Sex Differ. 2017;8(1):29.
- 82. Kállai I, Barke A, Voss U. The effects of experimenter characteristics on pain reports in women and men. Pain. 2004;112(1-2):142-7.
- 83. Lautenbacher S, Peters JH, Heesen M, Scheel J, Kunz M. Age changes in pain perception: A systematic-review and meta-analysis of age effects on pain and tolerance thresholds. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2017;75:104-13.

- 84. Feine JS, Bushnell CM, Miron D, Duncan GH. Sex differences in the perception of noxious heat stimuli. Pain. 1991;44(3):255-62.
- 85. Levine FM, Lee De Simone L. The effects of experimenter gender on pain report in male and female subjects. Pain. 1991;44(1):69-72.
- 86. Vigil JM, DiDomenico J, Strenth C, Coulombe P, Kruger E, Mueller AA, et al. Experimenter effects on pain reporting in women vary across the menstrual cycle. Int J Endocrinol. 2015;2015:520719.
- 87. Fillingim RB, Edwards RR, Powell T. The relationship of sex and clinical pain to experimental pain responses. Pain. 1999;83(3):419-25.
- 88. Robinson ME, Gagnon CM, Riley JL, 3rd, Price DD. Altering gender role expectations: effects on pain tolerance, pain threshold, and pain ratings. J Pain. 2003;4(5):284-8.
- 89. Wandner LD, Scipio CD, Hirsh AT, Torres CA, Robinson ME. The perception of pain in others: how gender, race, and age influence pain expectations. J Pain. 2012;13(3):220-7.
- Essick G, Guest S, Martinez E, Chen C, McGlone F. Site-dependent and subjectrelated variations in perioral thermal sensitivity. Somatosens Mot Res. 2004;21(3-4):159-75.
- 91. Zeidan A, Al-Temyatt S, Mowafi H, Ghattas T. Gender-related difference in postoperative pain after laparoscopic Roux-En-Y gastric bypass in morbidly obese patients. Obes Surg. 2013;23(11):1880-4.
- 92. Chae KL, Park SY, Hong JI, Yim WJ, Lee SC, Chung CJ. The effect of gender and age on postoperative pain in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a prospective observational study. Anesth Pain Med. 2019;14(3):364-9.
- 93. Eklund I, Larsson AS, Gustafsson S, Forsberg A. Patients' experiences of pain and postoperative nausea and vomiting in the early postoperative period after an elective knee arthroplasty. J Perianesth Nurs. 2020;35(4):382-8.
- 94. Hussain AM, Khan FA, Ahmed A, Chawla T, Azam SI. Effect of gender on pain perception and analgesic consumption in laparoscopic cholecystectomy: An observational study. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. 2013;29(3):337-41.
- 95. Kanaan SF, Melton BL, Waitman LR, Simpson MH, Sharma NK. The effect of age and gender on acute postoperative pain and function following lumbar spine surgeries. Physiother Res Int. 2021;26(2):e1888.
- 96. Grodofsky SR SA. The association of gender and body mass index with postoperativepain scores when undergoing ankle fracture surgery. J Anaesth Clin Pharm. 2014;30:248-52.
- 97. Kivrak Y, Kose-Ozlece H, Ustundag MF, Asoglu M. Pain perception: predictive value of sex, depression, anxiety, somatosensory amplification, obesity, and age. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2016;12:1913-8.
- 98. Athnaiel O, Cantillo S, Paredes S, Knezevic NN. The role of sex hormones in painrelated conditions. Int J Mol Sci. 2023;24(3).

- 99. Uvnäs-Moberg K, Ekström-Bergström A, Berg M, Buckley S, Pajalic Z, Hadjigeorgiou E, et al. Maternal plasma levels of oxytocin during physiological childbirth – a systematic review with implications for uterine contractions and central actions of oxytocin. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2019;19(1):285.
- 100. Gijsbers K, Nicholson F. Experimental pain thresholds influenced by sex of experimenter. Percept Mot Skills. 2005;101(3):803-7.
- Carter LE, McNeil DW, Vowles KE, Sorrell JT, Turk CL, Ries BJ, et al. Effects of emotion on pain reports, tolerance and physiology. Pain Res Manag. 2002;7(1):21-30.
- 102. Aslaksen PM, Myrbakk IN, Høifødt RS, Flaten MA. The effect of experimenter gender on autonomic and subjective responses to pain stimuli. Pain. 2007;129(3):260-8.
- Vigil JM, Coulombe P. Biological sex and social setting affects pain intensity and observational coding of other people's pain behaviors. Pain. 2011;152(9):2125-30.
- 104. Martin KD, McBride T, Wake J, Van Buren JP, Dewar C. Comparison of visual analog pain score reported to physician vs nurse in nonoperatively treated foot and ankle patients. Foot Ankle Int. 2018;39(12):1444-8.
- 105. Martin KD, Van Buren JP, Wake J, Dawson L. Comparison of visual analog pain score reported to physician vs nurse. Foot Ankle Int. 2018;39(3):300-3.
- 106. Vigil JM, Alcock J. Tough guys or sensitive guys? Disentangling the role of examiner sex on patient pain reports. Pain Res Manag. 2014;19(1):e9-e12.
- 107. Siriwardena AN, Asghar Z, Lord B, Pocock H, Phung VH, Foster T, et al. Patient and clinician factors associated with prehospital pain treatment and outcomes: cross sectional study. Am J Emerg Med. 2019;37(2):266-71.
- 108. Meyer-Frießem CH, Szalaty P, Zahn PK, Pogatzki-Zahn EM. A prospective study of patients' pain intensity after cardiac surgery and a qualitative review: effects of examiners' gender on patient reporting. Scand J Pain. 2019;19(1):39-51.
- Gagliese L. Pain and Aging: The Emergence of a New Subfield of Pain Research. J Pain. 2009;10(4):343-53.
- Mullins S, Hosseini F, Gibson W, Thake M. Physiological changes from ageing regarding pain perception and its impact on pain management for older adults. Clin Med. 2022;22(4):307-10.
- Cole LJ, Farrell MJ, Gibson SJ, Egan GF. Age-related differences in pain sensitivity and regional brain activity evoked by noxious pressure. Neurobiology of Aging. 2010;31(3):494-503.
- 112. Edwards RR, Fillingim RB, Ness TJ. Age-related differences in endogenous pain modulation: a comparison of diffuse noxious inhibitory controls in healthy older and younger adults. Pain. 2003;101(1):155-65.
- 113. Jones MR, Ehrhardt KP, Ripoll JG, Sharma B, Padnos IW, Kaye RJ, et al. Pain in the Elderly. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2016;20(4):23.
- 114. Hadjistavropoulos T, Herr K, Prkachin KM, Craig KD, Gibson SJ, Lukas A, et al. Pain assessment in elderly adults with dementia. Lancet Neurol. 2014;13(12):1216-27.

- 115. Raz N, Lindenberger U, Rodrigue KM, Kennedy KM, Head D, Williamson A, et al. Regional brain changes in aging healthy adults: general trends, individual differences and modifiers. Cereb Cortex. 2005;15(11):1676-89.
- 116. Gibson SJ, Lussier D. Prevalence and relevance of pain in older persons. Pain Med. 2012;13 Suppl 2:S23-6.
- 117. Tseng M-T, Chiang M-C, Yazhuo K, Chao C-C, Tseng W-YI, Hsieh S-T. Effect of aging on the cerebral processing of thermal pain in the human brain. Pain. 2013;154(10):2120-9.
- 118. González-Roldán AM, Terrasa JL, Sitges C, van der Meulen M, Anton F, Montoya P. Age-related changes in pain perception are associated with altered functional connectivity during resting state. Front Aging Neurosci. 2020;12:116.
- 119. Rogger R, Bello C, Romero CS, Urman RD, Luedi MM, Filipovic MG. Cultural framing and the impact on acute pain and pain services. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2023;27(9):429-36.
- 120. Campbell CM, Edwards RR, Fillingim RB. Ethnic differences in responses to multiple experimental pain stimuli. Pain. 2005;113(1-2):20-6.
- 121. Vina ER, Ran D, Ashbeck EL, Kwoh CK. Natural history of pain and disability among African-Americans and Whites with or at risk for knee osteoarthritis: A longitudinal study. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2018;26(4):471-9.
- 122. Riddle DL, Slover J, Keefe FJ, Ang DC, Dumenci L, Perera RA. Racial differences in pain and function following knee arthroplasty: A secondary analysis from a multicenter randomized clinical trial. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2021;73(6):810-7.
- 123. Vaughn IA, Terry EL, Bartley EJ, Schaefer N, Fillingim RB. Racial-Ethnic Differences in osteoarthritis pain and disability: A meta-analysis. J Pain. 2019;20(6):629-44.
- 124. Johnson JD, Asiodu IV, McKenzie CP, Tucker C, Tully KP, Bryant K, et al. Racial and ethnic inequities in postpartum pain evaluation and management. Obstet Gynecol. 2019;134(6):1155-62.
- 125. Valencia C, Smiley A, Giron M, Stacy J, Rodriguez I, Umucu E. Differences in psychosocial factors and experimental pain sensitivity between hispanics and non-hispanic whites from the U.S.-Mexico border. Pain Med. 2021;22(11):2627-37.
- 126. Aufiero M, Stankewicz H, Quazi S, Jacoby J, Stoltzfus J. Pain perception in Latino vs. Caucasian and male vs. female patients: Is there really a difference? West J Emerg Med. 2017;18(4):737-42.
- 127. Faucett J, Gordon N, Levine J. Differences in postoperative pain severity among four ethnic groups. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1994;9(6):383-9.
- 128. Al-Harthy M, Ohrbach R, Michelotti A, List T. The effect of culture on pain sensitivity. J Oral Rehabil. 2016;43(2):81-8.
- 129. Narayan MC. Culture's effects on pain assessment and management. Am J Nurs. 2010;110(4):38-47; quiz 8-9.
- 130. Chen LM, Miaskowski C, Dodd M, Pantilat S. Concepts within the Chinese culture that influence the cancer pain experience. Cancer Nurs. 2008;31(2):103-8.

- Lor M, Koleck TA. Patient race, ethnicity, language, and pain severity in primary care: A retrospective electronic health record study. Pain Manag Nurs. 2022;23(4):385-90.
- 132. Holt S, Waterfield J. Cultural aspects of pain: A study of Indian Asian women in the UK. Musculoskeletal Care. 2018;16(2):260-8.
- 133. Navarro-Prado S, Sánchez-Ojeda MA, Marmolejo-Martín J, Kapravelou G, Fernández-Gómez E, Martín-Salvador A. Cultural influence on the expression of labour-associated pain. BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth. 2022;22(1):836.
- 134. Razum O, Reiss K, Breckenkamp J, Kaufner L, Brenne S, Bozorgmehr K, et al. Comparing provision and appropriateness of health care between immigrants and non-immigrants in Germany using the example of neuraxial anaesthesia during labour: cross-sectional study. BMJ Open. 2017;7(8):e015913.
- Lumley MA, Cohen JL, Borszcz GS, Cano A, Radcliffe AM, Porter LS, et al. Pain and emotion: a biopsychosocial review of recent research. J Clin Psychol. 2011;67(9):942-68.
- 136. Rhudy J, Meagher M. The role of emotion in pain modulation. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2001;14:241-5.
- 137. Tang NKY, Salkovskis PM, Hodges A, Wright KJ, Hanna M, Hester J. Effects of mood on pain responses and pain tolerance: an experimental study in chronic back pain patients. Pain. 2008;138(2):392-401.
- 138. Michaelides A, Zis P. Depression, anxiety and acute pain: links and management challenges. Postgrad Med. 2019;131(7):438-44.
- 139. Abbott FV, Franklin KB, Connell B. The stress of a novel environment reduces formalin pain: possible role of serotonin. Eur J Pharmacol. 1986;126(1-2):141-4.
- 140. Hayati AA, Zalina I, Myo T, Badariah AA, Azhar A, Idris L. Modulation of formalin-induced fos-like immunoreactivity in the spinal cord by swim stress-induced analgesia, morphine and ketamine. Ger Med Sci. 2008;6:Doc05.
- 141. Zou CJ, Liu JD, Zhou YC. Roles of central interleukin-1 on stress-inducedhypertension and footshock-induced-analgesia in rats. Neurosci Lett. 2001;311(1):41-4.
- 142. Goyal R, Anil K. Protective effect of alprazolam in acute immobilization stressinduced certain behavioral and biochemical alterations in mice. Pharmacol Rep. 2007;59(3):284-90.
- 143. Ortiz JP, Close LN, Heinricher MM, Selden NR. Alpha(2)-noradrenergic antagonist administration into the central nucleus of the amygdala blocks stress-induced hypoalgesia in awake behaving rats. Neurosci. 2008;157(1):223-8.
- 144. Benfenati F. Synaptic plasticity and the neurobiology of learning and memory. Acta Biomed. 2007;78 Suppl 1:58-66.
- 145. Willer JC, Dehen H, Cambier J. Stress-induced analgesia in humans: endogenous opioids and naloxone-reversible depression of pain reflexes. Science. 1981;212(4495):689-91.
- 146. Willer JC, De Broucker T, Le Bars D. Encoding of nociceptive thermal stimuli by diffuse noxious inhibitory controls in humans. J Neurophysiol. 1989;62(5):1028-38.

- Willer JC, Albe-Fessard D. Electrophysiological evidence for a release of endogenous opiates in stress-induced 'analgesia' in man. Brain Res. 1980;198(2):419-26.
- 148. Janal MN, Colt EWD, Clark CW, Glusman M. Pain sensitivity, mood and plasma endocrine levels in man following long-distance running: effects of naloxone. Pain. 1984;19(1):13-25.
- 149. Nilsen KB, Westgaard RH, Stovner LJ, Helde G, Rø M, Sand TH. Pain induced by low-grade stress in patients with fibromyalgia and chronic shoulder/neck pain, relation to surface electromyography. Eur J Pain. 2006;10(7):615-27.
- 150. Faymonville EM, Mambourg HP, Joris J, Vrijens B, Fissette J, Albert A, et al. Psychological approaches during conscious sedation. Hypnosis versus stress reducing strategies: a prospective randomized study. Pain. 1997;73(3):361-7.
- 151. Yoo H, Cho Y, Cho S. Does past/current pain change pain experience? Comparing self-reports and pupillary responses. Front Psychol. 2023;14:1094903.
- Rollman GB, Abdel-Shaheed J, Gillespie JM, Jones KS. Does past pain influence current pain: biological and psychosocial models of sex differences. European J Pain. 2004;8(5):427-33.
- Porro CA, Baraldi P, Pagnoni G, Serafini M, Facchin P, Maieron M, et al. Does anticipation of pain affect cortical nociceptive systems? J Neurosci. 2002;22(8):3206-14.
- 154. Phillips AE, Bick BL, Faghih M, Yadav D, Drewes AM, Singh VK, et al. Pain sensitivity and psychiatric comorbidities in chronic pancreatitis patients with and without pain: Past experience matters. Gastro Hep Advances. 2022;1(5):796-802.
- 155. Cipher DJ, Fernandez E. Expectancy variables predicting tolerance and avoidance of pain in chronic pain patients. Behav Res Ther. 1997;35(5):437-44.
- 156. Bachiocco V, Morselli AM, Carli G. Self-control expectancy and postsurgical pain: relationships to previous pain, behavior in past pain, familial pain tolerance models, and personality. J Pain Symptom Manage. 1993;8(4):205-14.
- 157. Persson AK, Pettersson FD, Dyrehag LE, Åkeson J. Prediction of postoperative pain from assessment of pain induced by venous cannulation and propofol infusion. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand. 2016;60(2):166-76.
- 158. Persson AKM, Åkeson J. Prediction of acute postoperative pain from assessment of pain Aasociated with venous cannulation. Pain Pract. 2019;19(2):158-67.
- 159. Malenbaum S, Keefe FJ, Williams ACC, Ulrich R, Somers TJ. Pain in its environmental context: implications for designing environments to enhance pain control. Pain. 2008;134(3):241-4.
- Dong Y, Zhang L, Chen L-W, Luo Z-R. Music therapy for pain and anxiety in patients after cardiac valve replacement: a randomized controlled clinical trial. BMC Cardiovasc Dis. 2023;23(1):32.
- 161. Rivera NV, Parmelee PA, Smith DM. The impact of social interactions and pain on daily positive and negative affect in adults with osteoarthritis of the knee. Aging Ment Health. 2020;24(1):8-14.

- Alphonsus KB, D'Arcy C. Is there an association between social support and pain among individuals living with multiple sclerosis? J Evid Based Integr Med. 2021;26:2515690x21991995.
- Hillmer K, Kappesser J, Hermann C. Pain modulation by your partner: An experimental investigation from a social-affective perspective. PLoS one. 2021;16(7):e0254069.
- 164. Churyukanov M, Plaghki L, Legrain V, Mouraux A. Thermal detection thresholds of Aδ- and C-fibre afferents activated by brief CO2 laser pulses applied onto the human hairy skin. PLoS One. 2012;7(4):e35817.
- Nahra H, Plaghki L. Innocuous skin cooling modulates perception and neurophysiological correlates of brief CO2 laser stimuli in humans. Eur J Pain. 2005;9(5):521-30.
- 166. Obi T, Takatsu M, Yamazaki K, Kuroda R, Terada T, Mizoguchi K. Conduction velocities of Adelta-fibers and C-fibers in human peripheral nerves and spinal cord after CO2 laser stimulation. J Clin Neurophysiol. 2007;24(3):294-7.
- 167. Tran TD, Lam K, Hoshiyama M, Kakigi R. A new method for measuring the conduction velocities of Abeta-, Adelta- and C-fibers following electric and CO(2) laser stimulation in humans. Neurosci Lett. 2001;301(3):187-90.
- 168. Cruccu G, Pennisi E, Truini A, Iannetti GD, Romaniello A, Le Pera D, et al. Unmyelinated trigeminal pathways as assessed by laser stimuli in humans. Brain. 2003;126(Pt 10):2246-56.
- 169. Iannetti GD, Leandri M, Truini A, Zambreanu L, Cruccu G, Tracey I. Adelta nociceptor response to laser stimuli: selective effect of stimulus duration on skin temperature, brain potentials and pain perception. Clin Neurophysiol. 2004;115(11):2629-37.
- 170. Arendt-Nielsen L. Second pain event related potentials to argon laser stimuli: recording and quantification. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1990;53(5):405-10.
- 171. Ploner M, Gross J, Timmermann L, Schnitzler A. Cortical representation of first and second pain sensation in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002;99(19):12444-8.
- 172. Arendt-Nielsen L, Bjerring P. Sensory and pain threshold characteristics to laser stimuli. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1988;51(1):35-42.
- 173. Staikou C, Kokotis P, Kyrozis A, Rallis D, Makrydakis G, Manoli D, et al. Differences in pain perception between men and women of reproductive age: A laser-evoked potentials study. Pain Med. 2016;18(2):316-21.
- 174. Azevedo E, Silva A, Martins R, Andersen ML, Tufik S, Manzano GM. Activation of C-fiber nociceptors by low-power diode laser. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 2016;74(3):223-7.
- 175. Chan JJI, Thong SY, Tan MGE. Factors affecting postoperative pain and delay in discharge from the post-anaesthesia care unit: A descriptive correlational study. Proceedings of Singapore Healthcare. 2018;27:118 - 24.
- 176. Gerbershagen HJ, Aduckathil S, van Wijck AJM, Peelen LM, Kalkman CJ, Meissner W. Pain intensity on the first day after surgery: A prospective cohort study comparing 179 surgical procedures. Anesthesiology. 2013;118(4):934-44.

- 177. de Williams AC, Davies HTO, Chadury Y. Simple pain rating scales hide complex idiosyncratic meanings. Pain. 2000;85(3):457-63.
- 178. Younger J, McCue R, Mackey S. Pain outcomes: a brief review of instruments and techniques. Curr Pain Headache Rep. 2009;13(1):39-43.
- 179. Skovlund E, Bretthauer M, Grotmol T, Larsen IK, Hoff G. Sensitivity of pain rating scales in an endoscopy trial. Clin J Pain. 2005;21(4):292-6.
- 180. Reed MD, Van Nostran W. Assessing pain intensity with the visual analog scale: a plea for uniformity. J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;54(3):241-4.
- Kersten P, White PJ, Tennant A. Is the pain visual analogue scale linear and responsive to change? An exploration using rasch analysis. PLoS one. 2014;9(6):e99485.
- Loos MJ, Houterman S, Scheltinga MR, Roumen RM. Evaluating postherniorrhaphy groin pain: Visual Analogue or Verbal Rating Scale? Hernia. 2008;12(2):147-51.
- 183. Gagliese L, Weizblit N, Ellis W, Chan VWS. The measurement of postoperative pain: a comparison of intensity scales in younger and older surgical patients. Pain. 2005;117(3):412-20.
- Grotle M, Brox JI, Vøllestad NK. Concurrent comparison of responsiveness in pain and functional status measurements used for patients with low back pain. Spine (Phila Pa 1976). 2004;29(21):E492-501.
- 185. Jackson D, Horn S, Kersten P, Turner-Stokes L. Development of a pictorial scale of pain intensity for patients with communication impairments: initial validation in a general population. Clin Med (Lond). 2006;6(6):580-5.
- 186. Williamson A, Hoggart B. Pain: a review of three commonly used pain rating scales. J Clin Nurs. 2005;14(7):798-804.
- 187. Melzack R, Katz J. The McGill Pain Questionnaire: appraisal and current status. In D C Turk & R Melzack (Eds), Handbook of pain assessment (pp 35–52) The Guilford Press. 2001.
- 188. Scrimshaw SV, Maher C. Responsiveness of visual analogue and McGill pain scale measures. J Manipulative Physiol Ther. 2001;24(8):501-4.
- Burckhardt CS, Bjelle A. A Swedish version of the Short-Form McGill Pain Questionnaire. Scand J Rheumatol. 1994;23(2):77-81.
- 190. Lautenbacher S, Rollman GB. Sex differences in responsiveness to painful and nonpainful stimuli are dependent upon the stimulation method. Pain. 1993;53(3):255-64.
- 191. Racine M, Tousignant-Laflamme Y, Kloda LA, Dion D, Dupuis G, Choinière M. A systematic literature review of 10years of research on sex/gender and experimental pain perception – Part 1: Are there really differences between women and men? Pain. 2012;153(3):602-18.
- 192. Nascimento M, Kosminsky M, Chi M. Gender role in pain perception and expression: an integrative review. Brazil J Pain. 2020;3.
- 193. Rau CL, Yang JL, Lin JJ, Wu PC, Hou CY, Song CY, et al. Pain quality descriptors and sex-related differences in patients with shoulder pain. J Pain Res. 2018;11:1803-9.

- 194. Mogil JS. The history of pain measurement in humans and animals. Front Pain Res (Lausanne). 2022;3:1031058.
- 195. Iyanga-Mambo E. Gender-based verbal and nonverbal communication: A case study of spokespeople in British TV advertisement testimonials. 2017;41:95-118.
- 196. Spangler L. Gender-Specific nonverbal communication: Impact for speaker effectiveness. Hum Res Develop Quart. 1995;6(4):409-19.
- 197. Han S, Fan Y, Mao L. Gender difference in empathy for pain: An electrophysiological investigation. Brain Res. 2008;1196:85-93.
- 198. Eriksson K, Wikström L, Fridlund B, Årestedt K, Broström A. Patients' experiences and actions when describing pain after surgery a critical incident technique analysis. Int J Nurs Stud. 2016;56:27-36.
ANNA SELLGREN ENGSKOV grew up on the Swedish west coast and graduated from Medical School at the University of Copenhagen, Denmark, in 2007 where she still lives. She is a specialist in anaesthesiology and intensive care at Skåne University Hospital in Malmö, Sweden. Her research focuses on acute nociceptive pain with aspects of multidimensional pain assessment and impact of gender.





FACULTY OF MEDICINE Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences Malmö

> Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2023:133 ISBN 978-91-8021-475-9 ISSN 1652-8220

